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SURREBUTTAL TESTIMONY 

OF 

MARK C. BIRK 

FILE NO. EF-2024-0021 

I. INTRODUCTION 1 

Q. Please state your name and business address. 2 

A. Mark C. Birk, 1901 Chouteau Avenue, St. Louis, Missouri.   3 

Q. Who do you work for? 4 

A. I am the President of Union Electric Company d/b/a Ameren Missouri 5 

(“Ameren Missouri” or “the Company”). 6 

Q. Are you the same Mark C. Birk who previously provided testimony in 7 

this case? 8 

A. Yes. 9 

Q. What is the purpose of your surrebuttal testimony? 10 

A. The purpose of my surrebuttal testimony is to respond to the rebuttal 11 

testimony of Staff witnesses Claire Eubanks and Keith Majors and Public Counsel witness 12 

Jordan Seaver on the issue of prudence.   In doing so, I explain why the Company made 13 

reasonable and prudent decisions in concluding that the Rush Island Projects1 would not 14 

trigger NSR and did not require permitting under the Missouri SIP.   15 

  

 
1 Capitalized phrases or terms used in this testimony, if not specifically defined in it, have the meaning 
given such terms in my Direct Testimony. 
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Q. In asserting prudence, does the Company attempt to re-litigate the NSR 1 

case as Staff witness Majors alleges2? 2 

A. Absolutely not.  As I said in my Direct Testimony, the District Court found 3 

that NSR permits were required for the Rush Island Projects, and the Eighth Circuit Court 4 

of Appeals upheld that decision.  But the question here is not whether, looking back in 5 

hindsight, permits were required for the Rush Island Projects – the courts said they were, 6 

and that is not in dispute here.  Instead, the question here is why Ameren Missouri did not 7 

get those permits, was that decision reasonable at the time of the projects – years before 8 

any of the legal rulings by the courts.  That issue was not decided by the courts.  Nor is it 9 

an issue that Staff has analyzed, as Ms. Eubanks admits: 10 

 Q. One of the issues that are in contention here in this proceeding 11 
is why Ameren Missouri did not get the required Clean 12 
Air Act permits [i.e., NSR Permits], do you understand that? 13 

 A.  I think that is an issue that has 14 
  been brought forth in this case, yes. 15 

 Q.  And have you drawn any conclusions as 16 
  to why Ameren Missouri did not get the required Clean 17 
  Air Act permits? 18 

 A. I don't believe that I have drawn 19 
  that conclusion, a conclusion on that, no.3   20 

 Q. So why didn’t Ameren Missouri get NSR permits for the Rush Island 21 

Projects? 22 

A. As explained by Mr. Whitworth's Direct and Surrebuttal Testimonies, NSR 23 

permits for these types of projects were not required under the legal standards as we 24 

 
2 File No. EF-2024-0021, Keith Majors Rebuttal Testimony, p. 4, ll. 17-18. 
3 Deposition of Claire M. Eubanks, File No. EF-2024-0021, p. 15, l. 23 to p. 16, l. 8 (March 11, 2024).  The 
deposition transcript bears a March 12, 2024 date but the deposition took place on March 11, 2024. 
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understood them at the time.  We believed that permits were required only for projects that 1 

would increase potential emissions from the unit, and none of the Rush Island Projects 2 

were expected to increase potential emissions.  We also understood that permitting would 3 

not be required for boiler component replacements that are routinely performed within the 4 

electric utility industry, and that the Rush Island Projects were routine within this industry.  5 

Had either of those beliefs been found by the courts to be correct, we would not have 6 

needed NSR Permits.   7 

Several years after the Rush Island Projects were completed, the courts told us that 8 

we were wrong about the law, and that the legal standards we applied to determine that the 9 

Rush Island Projects could proceed were not correct.  But the courts did not find that our 10 

understanding of the law on either of those points was unreasonable at the time we made 11 

the relevant permitting decisions, and I firmly believe that our understanding was 12 

reasonable.   13 

Q. Why? 14 

A.  Company witnesses Whitworth, Holmstead, and Moor discuss this in great 15 

detail in their Direct Testimonies and in their Surrebuttal Testimonies, and I will not 16 

attempt to repeat all that here.  From my perspective, two undisputed facts show that our 17 

understanding of the law in the 2005-2010 period was reasonable.   18 

First, our understanding of the law was consistent with MDNR, which had primary 19 

responsibility for issuing NSR permits in Missouri and did so under the Missouri SIP.  Staff 20 

agrees on these points, as Keith Majors confirms.   21 

Q. Do you have an understanding as to whether they [Ameren 22 
Missouri] were required to ask EPA to confirm the decisions they 23 
made that the Rush Island projects were not going to trigger 24 
new source review or PSD? 25 
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A. No, I think they work with the DNR with the state implementation 1 
plan and so that's the primary rules and regs that the EPA has 2 
delegated to the state.  So I think that they -- that would be the 3 
primary factor if you will for determining the PSD requirements 4 
under their air permit. 5 

… 6 

Q. Do you understand that Ameren Missouri's understanding of the law 7 
was consistent with that of the Missouri Department of Natural 8 
Resources? 9 

A. That's my understanding, yes.4 10 

Second, Ameren Missouri’s understanding was consistent with the rest of the 11 

electric utility industry.  Projects like those at Rush Island occurred across the industry, 12 

year after year after year, and not once to my knowledge has any utility sought a NSR 13 

permit before undertaking them.   14 

II. WEPCO PORT WASHINGTON PROJECT 15 

Q. But what about the Wisconsin Electric Power Company (“WEPCo”) 16 

project identified by Office of the Public Counsel ("OPC") witness Seaver?  17 

A.  Mr. Seaver correctly notes that WEPCo believed permits were not required 18 

for a proposed project at its Port Washington Plant, that the state environmental agency 19 

agreed with WEPCo that no Clean Air Act permits were required, and that the EPA then 20 

disagreed and took a different view.5   We were well-aware of the WEPCo Port Washington 21 

Project at the time the Company made its permitting decisions on Rush Island, but believed 22 

the WEPCo Port Washington Project was nothing like the Rush Island Projects.  23 

  

 
4 Deposition of Keith Majors, File No. EF-2024-0021, p. 44, ll. 13-22; p. 47, ll. 20-23 (March 12, 2024). 
5 File No. EF-2024-0021, Jordan Seaver Rebuttal Testimony, p. 2, l. 12 to p. 3, l. 11 
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Q. How was it you were aware of the WEPCo situation? 1 

A. The WEPCo project and EPA’s determination that the project triggered 2 

permitting requirements has been widely discussed throughout the electric utility industry.  3 

Company witnesses Holmstead and Moor discuss in more detail the widespread 4 

understanding of the WEPCo situation in their Direct Testimonies and in their Surrebuttal 5 

Testimonies.   6 

 Q. Why do you say that the WEPCo Port Washington Project was nothing 7 

like the Rush Island Projects? 8 

A. Company witnesses Whitworth, Holmstead and Moor discuss the 9 

differences in more detail.  From my perspective, however, there were many significant 10 

differences that made the Port Washington Project completely unlike the Rush Island 11 

Projects.   12 

First, the Port Washington Project involved increasing the hourly potential 13 

emissions from the facility.  The Rush Island Projects did no such thing.  As Mr. Whitworth 14 

explains, this was a central fact upon which the ESD permitting decisions turned.  When 15 

projects would increase the hourly potential emissions (as in the case of projects completed 16 

at Ameren Missouri’s affiliated company’s Duck Creek coal plant in Illinois), ESD 17 

identified the need for NSR permitting and NSR permits were sought.  When projects were 18 

not expected to increase the hourly potential emissions, then ESD concluded that no NSR 19 

permits were required.  Here, none of the Rush Island Projects were expected to (or did) 20 

increase the hourly potential emissions, as both EPA and the District Court agreed. So this 21 

means the WEPCo decision did not apply to Rush Island for that reason alone.   22 
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Second, the generating units at Port Washington were substantially degraded, and 1 

had permanently lost a substantial portion of their generating capacity.  For example, one 2 

of the units could not even be operated due to safety concerns. The Rush Island units, by 3 

contrast, were in good shape, with equivalent availability exceeding 90% shortly before 4 

the outages in question. Although pluggage of the boiler did occur, the units never 5 

experienced a permanent loss of capacity.  This is reflected in the equivalent availability 6 

data cited above, which incorporates and accounts for any of the occasional derates on the 7 

units.  See Schedule MCB-S1 attached to my testimony.      8 

Third, the Port Washington units were slated for retirement.  The WEPCo project 9 

was necessary to stave off that retirement and to allow continued operation of the units.  At 10 

Rush Island, by contrast, the units were nowhere near retirement and retirement was not 11 

considered as the alternative to performing the Rush Island Projects.  Put another way, had 12 

the Port Washington Project not been performed, the plant would have shut down at that 13 

time; without the Rush Island Projects, the plant would have continued to operate for a 14 

long time but with a lower availability rate than would exist if the projects were completed.   15 

Fourth, the Port Washington Project was much more extensive than the Rush Island 16 

Projects.  The Port Washington Project was a four-year project that involved successive 17 

nine-month outages for each unit at the cost of over $70 million in 1988 dollars.  The Rush 18 

Island Projects, by contrast, involved only three or four components, took place during 19 

planned outages covering approximately three months, which was typical for the units at 20 

issue, and cost substantially less than the Port Washington Project.   21 

Finally, in addition to the significant work described above, the work in the WEPCo 22 

Port Washington Project included replacement of the steam drums on the boilers.  Such 23 
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work is rare for coal plants in the industry, and I am not aware of any comparable 1 

replacements ever being performed in the industry.  In contrast, the work involved in the 2 

Rush Island Projects consisted of replacing boiler tube assemblies and boiler auxiliary 3 

equipment—activities that were and remain common within the utility industry.    4 

We therefore understood that the WEPCo Port Washington Project was nothing 5 

like the Rush Island Projects, and the fact that EPA found permitting to apply for Port 6 

Washington in no way suggested to us that permitting would also be required for Rush 7 

Island.  The work at issue in the Rush Island Projects was commonly done across all of the 8 

plants supported by ESD (for both Ameren Missouri and its Illinois affiliates) and 9 

throughout the utility industry, and other utilities were not seeking or receiving NSR 10 

permits for such work.   11 

Q. The first reason you gave that the Rush Island Projects are nothing like 12 

the project in WEPCo is that the Rush Island Projects did not increase potential 13 

emissions, whereas the WEPCo project did.  Why do you say that potential emissions 14 

did not increase at Rush Island? 15 

A. The Rush Island Projects did not increase the capacity of any equipment 16 

that feeds coal, water or air into the boiler.  Thus, none of the Rush Island Projects increased 17 

the maximum amount of coal that the unit could burn in an hour or the maximum amount 18 

of sulfur dioxide or other pollutants that the unit could emit in an hour.  By definition, then, 19 

the Rush Island Projects did not increase potential emissions.   20 
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Q. Has anyone here suggested that the Rush Island Projects did increase 1 

potential emissions?   2 

A. No.  Staff concedes that they have no evidence of an increase in potential 3 

emissions.  Ms. Eubanks made that clear:   4 

Q. On Page 35 of your rebuttal testimony, or thereabouts, there is a 5 
discussion about pluggage of one or both of the units at Rush Island 6 
and that there was work that needed to be done to maintain the 7 
maximum continuous rating? 8 

A. Yes. 9 

Q. Do you see that? 10 

A. I do. 11 

Q. Okay. And what does the maximum continuous rating mean to you? 12 
 
A. It means the ability of the unit to operate at its maximum. 13 
 
Q. Do you recognize the maximum continuous rating to be a steam flow 14 

rating? 15 
 16 
A. I don't recall. 17 

Q. Do you know whether there was any increase in the maximum 18 
designed steam flow as a result of any of the Rush Island projects? 19 

 
A. I'm not aware of whether or not there would have been an increase 20 

in the steam flow, maximum steam flow as you phrased it. 21 
 

Q. Now, you’re an environmental engineer, right? 22 
 
A. I am. 23 

Q. Okay. So if there was no increase in the maximum hourly designed 24 
steam flow, would it be a reasonable assumption that there's no 25 
increase in the maximum hourly emissions rate? 26 

 
A. Yes. 27 

Q. And by the same token, would it be reasonable assumption then that 28 
there would be no increase in the potential emissions either? 29 

 30 
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A. Yes. 1 

Q. And you understand that there was no increase in the potential 2 
emissions from any of the Rush Island projects, correct? 3 

 
A. My understanding from the -- one of  the judge's order is that that 4 

was undisputed. 5 
 
Q. That's not a position that you're going to dispute in this matter, are 6 

you? 7 
 
A. No.6 8 

Although Staff’s rebuttal testimony notes that the megawatt capacity of Unit 2 9 

increased following the project, Staff also conceded that megawatt capacity is not the same 10 

as the maximum hourly emissions rate (i.e., potential emissions).   11 

Q. We're talking about the Rush Island projects again.  And there was 12 
some discussion in the testimony you provided citing findings from 13 
the District Court case about changes in megawatt 14 
capacity at Unit 2.  Do you recall that topic? 15 

A. I do, yes. 16 

Q. Okay. Now, as an environmental engineer you understand that 17 
megawatt capacity is not the same thing as the maximum hourly 18 
emissions rate for the unit, correct? 19 

 
A. Yes.7 20 

Nothing in any of documents cited by Staff suggests any change in potential 21 

emissions, and the District Court found that the absence of an increase in potential 22 

emissions was undisputed.   23 

 

 

 
6 File No. EF-2024-0021, Claire Eubanks Deposition supra, p. 37, l. 21 to p. 39, l. 11. 
7 File No. EF-2024-0021, Claire Eubanks Deposition supra, p. 162, l. 22 to p. 163, l. 7.  
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Q. So, what relevance does the WEPCo Port Washington Project have for 1 

the prudence of the Company’s permitting decisions for Rush Island? 2 

A. Because the WEPCo Port Washington Project was distinguishable from the 3 

Rush Island Projects, the fact that EPA required permitting for the Port Washington Project 4 

did not indicate to us that permitting was required for the Rush Island Projects.  Moreover, 5 

as Company witnesses Holmstead and Moor explain, EPA’s many statements after it issued 6 

its decision made clear that the Port Washington Project was unusual and that EPA’s 7 

decision about Port Washington did not mean most utility projects would require 8 

permitting.   As Company witnesses Holmstead and Moor explain, at the time the Company 9 

made its permitting decisions, EPA had established an interpretation of the NSR program 10 

in which it applied the “routine maintenance, repair and replacement” (or “RMRR”) 11 

provision in the NSR regulations to exclude large capital component replacement projects 12 

from NSR permitting requirements as long as they were routine within the industry.   13 

III. ROUTINE MAINTENANCE, REPAIR AND REPLACEMENT (“RMRR”) 14 

Q. While the lack of an increase in potential emissions makes the RMRR 15 

question irrelevant, the Company did consider whether the Rush Island projects were 16 

RMRR, did it not? 17 

A. Yes, we did. 18 

Q. At the time that Ameren Missouri made its permitting decisions, did 19 

the Company believe that the Rush Island Projects were routine for the utility 20 

industry? 21 

A. Yes.   22 
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Q. Why was that? 1 

A. The Rush Island Projects consisted primarily of boiler tube replacement, 2 

which is routine for the utility industry.  As I described in my Direct Testimony, the 3 

combustion of coal within the boiler produces a harsh and unforgiving environment.  In 4 

particular, the reheater, economizer and lower slope tubes in the boiler experience high 5 

amounts of stress and wear from the fly ash particles and combustion gasses produced in 6 

the furnace.  Because these tubes experience such wear, they will inevitably develop leaks 7 

that force the unit offline from time-to-time.  As more and more tube leaks develop, the 8 

impact on the unit's availability increases and it becomes economical to replace the entire 9 

component instead of patching them one at a time.  This is what Ameren Missouri has done 10 

for years, as well as the rest of the utility industry.  The basic purpose of replacing boiler 11 

components like those at issue in the Rush Island Projects is to maintain or improve the 12 

boiler’s availability. When such replacements occur, they typically incorporate the latest 13 

materials or designs.   14 

Q. When do such boiler component replacements typically occur? 15 

A. Across Ameren Missouri’s plants and those of its Illinois affiliates, as well 16 

as across the industry, boiler component replacements typically occur during planned 17 

outages.  Those outages can vary in length, but two to three months for planned outages is 18 

not unusual.8  Ameren Missouri, like all other utilities, will generally take the opportunity 19 

presented by a planned outage and repair or replace multiple components at the same time.  20 

Doing so creates efficiencies and, we have found, reduces the amount of time that a unit is 21 

required to spend in planned outages overall, which greatly benefits customers.      22 

 
8 Each of the Rush Island outages at issue each lasted approximately three months. 
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Q. How do utilities generally perform such boiler component 1 

replacements? 2 

A. Generally, boiler components replacements involve the use of outside 3 

contractors.  As I explained in my Direct Testimony, these activities occur so frequently 4 

across the utility industry that a number of companies have lines of business devoted to 5 

replacing boiler components for utilities across the county. Contractors will typically 6 

provide the components (using the current state-of-the-art materials and designs), 7 

contractors will remove the existing pieces of equipment, and contractors will install the 8 

new pieces of equipment.  From an engineering perspective, there is not much difference 9 

in the steps involved (or the craft labor required) for replacing an economizer, a 10 

superheater, a reheater, waterwall panels (including the lower slopes), or auxiliary 11 

equipment such as pumps, fans, or air preheaters.   12 

Q. Was there anything unusual about the outages for the Rush Island 13 

Projects? 14 

A. As I noted in my Direct Testimony, the 2007 outage at Unit 1 and the 2010 15 

outage at Unit 2 marked an expansion of each unit’s outage cycle from four to six years.  16 

Thus, the outages were longer than the plant had seen in the past and incorporated more 17 

work into each outage.  A complete list of the work done during the Unit 1 outage in 2007 18 

is found in Schedule MCB-S2, and a complete list of the work done during the unit 2 outage 19 

in 2010 is found in Schedule MCB-S3.  The aggregation of all this work made each outage 20 

as a whole significant relative to prior Rush Island outages which occurred more frequently 21 

and thus had smaller work scopes, as I noted in the email quoted by Ms. Eubanks.  But this 22 
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is not a reflection on whether the Rush Island Projects or any other item of work within the 1 

overall outage was routine, as Ms. Eubanks acknowledges. 2 

Q. You have some testimony from – you have in your testimony, your 3 
rebuttal testimony, some quotations from Mr. Birk about the Unit 1 4 
outage at Rush Island and the statement that it was the most 5 
significant outage in plant history, do you remember 6 
that? 7 

A. That was quoted in the order, yes, I do recall that. 8 
 

Q. Okay.  Now, you recognize Mr. Birk did not describe the work done 9 
in the outage as being unusual for the utility industry, correct? 10 

 
A. I don't think he's speaking to whether -- comparing the Rush Island 11 

project to industry in that discussion, no.9 12 
 

Q. Does a significant outage mean that the work performed within that 13 

outage was not routine? 14 

A. No. Of the several dozen work items performed in the 2007 outage on Unit 15 

1 (see Schedule MCB-S2), EPA sued Ameren Missouri for only four. And of the several 16 

dozen work items performed in the 2010 outage on Unit 2 (see Schedule MCB-S3), EPA 17 

sued Ameren Missouri for only three. As I have explained before, Ameren Missouri 18 

considered each of the seven component replacements involved in the Rush Island Projects 19 

to be routine for the electric utility industry.  20 

Q. Why did you consider the Rush Island Projects routine for the electric 21 

utility industry? 22 

A. For several reasons. First, the purpose of the Rush Island Projects was to 23 

improve availability. The most common reason for doing any form of maintenance, repair 24 

 
9 File No. EF-2024-0021, Claire Eubanks Deposition, supra, p. 139, l. 20 to p. 140, l. 8. 
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or replacement on an electricity generating unit is to maintain or improve availability.  The 1 

purpose of the Rush Island Projects was therefore routine in the industry. 2 

Second, the nature and extent of the work at issue in the Rush Island Projects was 3 

boiler tube replacement and replacement of boiler auxiliary equipment. These were capital 4 

projects, rather than those charged to an existing O&M budget, but capital projects 5 

involving component replacement on electric generating units happen every year across 6 

the Ameren Missouri system and the industry as a whole. Moreover, as I noted above, from 7 

an engineering perspective there is not much difference in replacing these and other 8 

components on a coal-fired boiler. And although the replacement parts incorporated some 9 

improvements in materials or design, it is typical practice within the industry to do so.   10 

Third, replacement of economizers, reheaters, waterwall panels (i.e., lower slope 11 

panels) and air preheater components has happened frequently across the industry. None 12 

of the work items performed by Ameren Missouri during the Rush Island Projects was 13 

unusual.  In fact, we had performed such work many times before over the years.     14 

Finally, the costs for the Rush Island Projects were not unusually large for the utility 15 

industry. Multi-million-dollar expenditures on existing units happen frequently across the 16 

industry.       17 

For all these reasons, we considered the Rush Island Projects to be routine. 18 
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Q. Just now you said that Ameren Missouri had performed component 1 

replacements like this several times before. You had listed some of these component 2 

replacements in MCB-D2, attached to your Direct Testimony.  Ms. Eubanks appears 3 

to take issue with that document in her Rebuttal Testimony. How do you respond? 4 

A. As indicated in the response to Staff Data Request 24 (attached to my 5 

testimony as Schedule MCB-S4), we did find a discrepancy in the date of one of the 6 

projects listed on my Schedule MCB-D2. We are also in the process of checking work 7 

order details on some of the older projects, as Ms. Moore explains in the data request 8 

response. Regardless of the precise details, however, there are many instances of 9 

component replacements (like those included in the Rush Island Projects) for which we 10 

have confirmed work order information completed between 2001 and 2005 (see the 11 

updated project spreadsheet attached as part of Schedule MCB-S4), none of which were 12 

claimed to trigger NSR requirements.  There are many more projects identified by our plant 13 

engineers pre-2001.  14 

Q. Does Staff take the position it was unreasonable for Ameren Missouri 15 

to consider the Rush Island Projects to be routine in the industry? 16 

A. No. Staff does not question Ameren Missouri’s conclusion that the 17 

individual component replacements were routine for the industry, as Ms. Eubanks admits.  18 

Q. Can you say whether it was unreasonable for Ameren to believe that 19 
economizer replacement happened routinely in the industry? 20 

 
A. I can't speak to that, no. 21 

Q. Do you know whether it was unreasonable for Ameren to believe 22 
that reheater replacement was routine within the industry? 23 

 
A. I can't speak to that. 24 
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Q. Do you have any reason to believe that it was unreasonable for 1 
Ameren to believe that lower slope replacements were routine in the 2 
industry? 3 

A. I can't speak to that. 4 

Q. Do you have any reason to believe it was unreasonable for Ameren 5 
to believe that air preheater replacements were routine in the 6 
industry? 7 

 
A. So I think that this was discussed in the order and there was 8 

discussion about all hot end and cold end air baskets and the rotor 9 
being replaced. And so I think there is some understanding that that 10 
would be less common, is my recollection of the order. 11 

 
Q. Okay. It may be less common if that’s your recollection of the order. 12 

But are you saying that that was unreasonable for Ameren to have  13 
believed that work to be routine? 14 

A. I think it depends on what their understanding was based on. 15 
 

Q. Depends upon what was their scope of analysis, what they were 16 
looking at? 17 

 
A. Yes.10 18 

Q. Ms. Eubanks refers to an email where you appeared to distinguish the 19 

replacement of the economizer, reheater, lower slope, and air preheaters from “the 20 

routine maintenance that had to be performed” during the Unit 1 outage in 2007.  21 

Does this contradict your testimony? 22 

A. No. Ms. Eubanks ignores the fact that under applicable accounting rules, 23 

some work is classified as capital because it involves the replacement of a retirement unit,11 24 

whereas everything else is classified as an O&M expense. “Routine maintenance” as 25 

referenced in my email quoted by Ms. Eubanks refers to O&M activities, not to the “routine 26 

 
10 File No. EF-2024-0021, Claire Eubanks Deposition, supra, p. 138, l. 14 to p. 139, l. 19. 
11 A "retirement unit" is unit of capital property that is removed from plant in service upon a retirement of 
the unit to ensure that it is no longer depreciated.  
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maintenance, repair and replacement” language in the NSR regulations. The exclusion for 1 

“routine maintenance, repair and replacement” in the NSR regulations plainly covers 2 

“replacement” as well as “maintenance” activities, and I never understood the accounting 3 

treatment of a project to control whether a project required permitting.   4 

Q. Ms. Eubanks, on page 32 of her Rebuttal Testimony, also takes issue 5 

with your description of the Rush Island Projects as “replacements” and suggests that 6 

this is not accurate. How do you respond? 7 

A. I cannot understand that at all. Ms. Eubanks herself described the Rush 8 

Island Projects as “replacements” in her Rebuttal Testimony.  9 

Q. Please briefly describe the projects for Rush Island 10 
Units 1 and 2. 11 

A. … The 2007 major boiler modification for Unit 1 12 
consisted of replacement of the reheater, 13 
economizer, air preheaters, and lower slope at 14 
Rush Island Unit 1.  . . . The 2010 major boiler 15 
modification for Rush Island Unit 2 consisted of 16 
replacement of the reheater, economizer, and air 17 
preheaters. . . .12 18 

Ms. Eubanks then pivots from her description of the projects as “replacements” to 19 

cherry-picking the phrases “significant boiler modifications”13 or “major refurbishment”14 20 

used to describe the Rush Island Projects.  Here again, Ms. Eubanks misses the point.   21 

The issue for the Commission to decide is not whether the Rush Island Projects 22 

were excluded from permitting under the “routine maintenance, repair and replacement” 23 

exclusion in the NSR regulations.  That issue has been decided in the courts, after the 24 

 
12 File No. EF-2024-0021, Claire Eubanks Rebuttal Testimony, p. 6, l. 21 to p. 7, l. 6 (Emphasis Added). 
13 Id. at p. 32, l. 20. 
14 Id. at p. 33, l. 10.  
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District Court concluded that the regulations excluded only “de minimis” activities from 1 

permitting.  2 

But that was not Ameren Missouri’s understanding of the law, as Messrs. 3 

Whitworth, Holmstead and Moor explain. Our understanding of the law was that the 4 

RMRR exclusion was broader, excluding projects that were routine for the industry. We 5 

considered “major refurbishment” of units and “significant boiler modifications” to be 6 

routine within the industry for the reasons explained by Mr. Whitworth, Mr. Holmstead 7 

and Mr. Moor. We did not understand RMRR to exclude only trivial or “de minimis” 8 

activities, the test that the District Court later applied, and that belief was reasonable for 9 

the reasons explained by Messrs. Whitworth, Mr. Holmstead and Mr. Moor. 10 

Q. Ms. Eubanks notes that neither Ameren Missouri nor its expert at trial 11 

identified another instance in the industry in which these same four components were 12 

replaced at once. How do you respond? 13 

A. Here again, Ms. Eubanks misses the point. The question is not whether the 14 

Rush Island Projects are excluded from NSR permitting as RMRR. The District Court 15 

decided that they were not, and this Commission is not asked to decide differently. The 16 

point is that the District Court made that finding after deciding two key legal questions:  1) 17 

what is the standard for RMRR? and 2) would the separate component replacements be 18 

aggregated together for purpose of the RMRR analysis, or analyzed (as Ameren Missouri 19 

did) on a component-by-component basis? In making its permitting decisions, we 20 

understood RMRR to exclude activities that were routine for the utility industry—an 21 

exclusion broader than that the Court ultimately applied (excluding only trivial, “de 22 

minimis” activities for the unit). In making these permitting decisions, we also focused on 23 
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the individual components at issue, and did not aggregate the four of them together (in the 1 

case of Rush Island Unit 1) or the three of them together (in the case of Rush Island Unit 2 

2).  3 

For that reason, the fact that Ameren Missouri did not provide another example of 4 

this particular three-component (or four-component) combination at another plant is beside 5 

the point. The question is whether Ameren Missouri’s understanding of the legal standards 6 

was reasonable, and whether it reasonably applied those legal standards to the Rush Island 7 

Projects in concluding no permits were required.  8 

As Messrs. Whitworth, Holmstead and Moor explain, it was reasonable for Ameren 9 

Missouri to understand RMRR as excluding activities that were routine for the industry, 10 

beyond mere trivial or “de minimis” activities for the unit in question. And as Messrs. 11 

Whitworth, Holmstead and Moor also explain, it was reasonable for Ameren Missouri to 12 

apply this test on a component-by-component basis, and to conclude that these actions were 13 

excluded from permitting as RMRR. 14 

Q. But does the fact the District Court record showed no other example of 15 

this particular combination of component replacements suggest it was unreasonable 16 

for Ameren Missouri to believe the Rush Island Projects were routine? 17 

A. Not at all. Let me use an analogy to explain. A coal-fired unit consists of 18 

thousands of different components, all of which must work together for the unit to operate 19 

and each of which requires some periodic maintenance, repair or replacement. Scheduling 20 

projects during an outage is like filling up your plate at a buffet. You have a number of 21 

potential work items on the unit, and you have a number of potential food options at the 22 

buffet. You have a certain length of the outage for the unit, and a certain size of your plate 23 
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at the buffet. In an outage, you will do the projects that fit the outage and provide the most 1 

benefit, based on component condition and need. And at any trip to the buffet, you may fill 2 

the plate with the contents of the buffet, as you wish. If I have low blood sugar, I may 3 

decide to add a piece of cake to my plate, beside the salad, side and entrée, rather than 4 

waiting and coming back a second time like other diners. Will my plate look different than 5 

most other plates around the restaurant? Of course. Does it mean that what I am doing is 6 

not routine? Of course not. Out of the whole restaurant, no two diners’ plates will look 7 

exactly alike. The same is true of outages for electric generating units. No two outages are 8 

exactly alike—the scope (i.e., the particular components at issue) and the cost of outages 9 

will vary. This is illustrated by Schedule MCB-D2, attached to my Direct Testimony. See 10 

also the slightly updated version of that schedule included as part of Schedule MCB-S4 to 11 

this testimony. 12 

Q. Ms. Eubanks cites the cost of the Rush Island Projects in comparison 13 

to the Rush Island plant’s annual O&M budget. Does that contradict your testimony 14 

that Ameren Missouri considered the projects routine? 15 

A. Absolutely not. Here again, Ms. Eubanks misses the point, citing a 16 

comparison that the District Court made in concluding that Ameren Missouri failed to 17 

convince him that the Rush Island Projects were RMRR. But the question here is not 18 

whether the Rush Island Projects were excluded from permitting as RMRR.  The question 19 

is whether the Company reasonably believed that permits were not required for the Rush 20 

Island Projects. We understood that the standard for RMRR is “routine for the industry,” 21 

not “routine for the unit” as declared years later by the District Court. The comparison of 22 

projects to the Rush Island O&M budget is relevant only for the “routine for the unit” test 23 
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applied by the District Court, not the “routine for the industry” test that Ameren Missouri 1 

and the rest of the utility industry understood was required for RMRR.  2 

In summary, at the time of the Rush Island Projects we had a different—but 3 

reasonable—understanding of the law on both the applicability of the Missouri SIP’s 4 

potential emissions exclusion I discussed in Section III and on the RMRR question I 5 

discussed in this section of my testimony. That the District Court later said our different 6 

but reasonable understanding was wrong isn’t the question; the question is whether it was 7 

unreasonable, years earlier, for us to have those understandings.  It wasn’t, for the reasons 8 

discussed in our testimonies in this case.  9 

IV. ESD’S PERMITTING DECISIONS ON RUSH ISLAND 10 

Q. You have testified that Ameren Missouri reviewed the Rush Island 11 

Projects for permitting requirements, including NSR permits, prior to the outages. 12 

Does Ms. Eubanks offer anything to contradict that testimony? 13 

A. No. In fact, Ms. Eubanks contradicts herself on this point. In her Rebuttal 14 

Testimony, on page 19, lines 16-18, Ms. Eubanks suggests that the Company “did not 15 

assess legal and environmental risks” around the Rush Island Projects. When pressed on 16 

this point in her deposition, however, Ms. Eubanks admitted that she has no facts to suggest 17 

that the Environmental Services Department failed to conduct a pre-project evaluation of 18 

the Rush Island Projects, as Mr. Whitworth testified occurred.  19 

Q. And in fact, I think you noted that in your rebuttal testimony. You  20 
noted his testimony saying that he reviewed the 2007 project outage 21 
scope before that occurred sometime in 2006. Do you recall 22 

 writing that in your rebuttal testimony? 23 

A. Can you point to the page that you're 24 
 thinking of? 25 
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Q. No. I don't have it committed to memory. And I think my pages are 1 
maybe off. 2 

 
A. Maybe off a little bit? Okay. Let me look. Okay. So on Page 20, Line 3 

12 through 13, I talk about Dave [sic] Whitworth's testimony in this 4 
case indicates to the best of his recollection he became aware of the 5 
2007 project sometime in the summer of 2006. 6 
 

Q. And do you recall that he also said that he reviewed the Rush Island 7 
projects for any permitting requirements before the outages 8 
commenced? 9 

 
A.  So I – my understanding is he personally did not review the 2010  10 

outage. But I do think his testimony talks about the 2007 outage. 11 
 

Q. Okay. And you're not disputing his testimony that says that there 12 
was a review of the 2007 outage projects for their potential 13 
permitting requirements, you're not disputing that, are you? 14 

 
A. I don't have any evidence that -- other than what he has said that -- 15 

to say one way or the other. 16 
 
Q. And you're not saying that the Commission should not believe his 17 

testimony on that point, are you? 18 
 
A. No. I'm just saying that I don't have any evidence to support one way 19 

or the other, to offer the Commission. 20 
 
Q. And with respect to the review that 21 

Environmental Services Department made of the 2010  22 
Rush Island projects before the outage commenced, are  23 
you questioning that testimony at all? 24 

A. Whose testimony? 25 

Q. Mr. Whitworth's testimony. 26 

A. You're saying in this case he said 27 
that -- I mean, I would have to probably re-read that  28 
part of his testimony. 29 

Q. Okay. But as you sit here today, 30 
you’re not going to dispute any testimony that Mr. 31 
Whitworth has offered that there was a review prior 32 
to the 2010 outage of the projects? 33 

A. So specifically a review and not a 34 
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quantitative kind of analysis that Mr. Hutcheson did  1 
that did -- that my understanding at least is after     2 
the project had commenced. 3 

Q. Right. 4 

A. So you're saying a qualitative 5 
review? 6 

Q. Correct. 7 

A. I don't have any information to, you 8 
 know, state one way or the other.15 9 

The Environmental Services Department had the job of reviewing projects for 10 

permitting requirements, and the testimony of Mr. Whitworth describes how this occurred 11 

for the Rush Island Projects. Ms. Eubanks offers no evidence to undermine that 12 

uncontradicted testimony of Mr. Whitworth. 13 

The only piece of evidence that Ms. Eubanks does point to in her discussion of the 14 

ESD’s assessment of the Rush Island Projects for permitting requirements is the Project 15 

Risk Management Plan documentation, and the fact that on one page of this package there 16 

is one box (“legal/environmental risk”) that was not checked.16   17 

I am familiar with the Company’s Project Risk Management Plan process and 18 

documentation. This was part of the budget authorization process, not part of the ESD 19 

project review process. ESD did not use these documents to record the results of its 20 

permitting review and the Project Risk Management Plan did not apply to nor did it have 21 

anything to do with ESD’s work. Indeed, even the District Court decision notes that these 22 

budgeting documents were not part of the ESD process for ensuring compliance with 23 

 
15 File No. EF-2024-0021, Claire Eubanks Deposition, supra, p.  25, l. 1 to p. 27, l. 7. 
16 File No. EF-2024-0021, Claire Eubanks Rebuttal, p. 19, l. 21.  
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permitting requirements. Majors Schedule KM-s2 at 115 (¶ 385). Ms. Eubanks admitted 1 

this in her deposition:   2 

Q. Okay. And you said before that you  3 
had some indication that there was some requirement  4 
for Environmental Services to be involved in the 5 
project risk management process, did I understand you  6 
to say that correctly? 7 

A. Yes. 8 

Q. Okay. What are you basing that on? 9 

A. So that was attached as an exhibit to  10 
my testimony. At least -- and this is specific for  11 
-- well, there's two things. So for both projects 12 
there is a checklist in the work approval packages.  13 

Q. Before you get to the exact page,  14 
let's make sure we're on the same exhibit.  15 
Are you on Schedule 9? 16 

A. That's a good question. Yes,  17 
Schedule 9. 18 

Q. Okay. And that was the first page of 19 
what we just looked at as Exhibit 10 to your  20 
deposition? 21 

A. Right. 22 

Q. Okay. Thank you. 23 

A. Okay. So there's a project man -- 24 
excuse me -- project risk management plan, this is 25 
Page 12 of 91 of Schedule CME-R9. And the second  26 
Page includes risk factors having been addressed or  27 
not addressed and legal environmental is not checked.  28 

Q. Okay. Do you know what the scope of 29 
that legal environmental box was supposed to -- was 30 
supposed to refer to? 31 

A. No. 32 

Q. Okay. Do you know who were the folks 33 
that were supposed to check that box? 34 
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A.  No. 1 

Q. Do you know in what circumstances 2 
that box was checked? 3 

A. No. 4 

Q. But you understand that that box that 5 
you just referred to was part of the project risk 6 
management plan? 7 

A. Yes. 8 

Q. Can you turn to Page 115 of Exhibit 11? 9 

… 10 

A. 115. Okay. Yes. I'm there. 11 

Q. Okay. 12 

A. At the bottom. 13 

Q. And you see in Paragraph 385 on that  14 
page it says the Environmental Services Department at  15 
Ameren is responsible for determining New Source  16 
Review applicability, do you see that? 17 

A. I do see that. 18 

Q. Okay. That was a finding by the  19 
District Court in the section? 20 

A. That's right. 21 

Q. And you're not disagreeing with that, 22 
 are you? 23 

A. That they have -- that they're  24 
responsible for determining New Source Review  25 
applicability or the entire paragraph? 26 

Q. Just that sentence. 27 

A. I am not disagreeing with that, no. 28 

Q. Okay. It goes on to say,  29 
Environmental Services does not have any role  30 
in Ameren's capital project justification process. Do  31 
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you see that? 1 

A. I see that. 2 

Q. Okay. Are you disputing that finding 3 
by the District Court? 4 

A. I think that's based on Mr. Naslund's  5 
testimony. And certainly there's an indication that  6 
-- from that risk management plan that there  7 
potentially could be involved because it denotes that  8 
legal environmental review. So I really – I don’t  9 
know. 10 

Q. Okay. Yeah. The judge in that 11 
Paragraph 385 certainly cites some testimony. But 12 
his finding was the Environmental Services does not have any role 13 
in Ameren's capital project  14 
justification process, period? 15 

A. Yeah. That's what he found. 16 

Q. Okay. And you're not disputing the 17 
District Court's finding on that point, are you? 18 

A. No. 19 
 20 
Q. Okay. And then it goes on to talk 21 

about the project justification packages include a 22 
document called the project risk management plan. Do 23 
you see that in Paragraph 386? 24 

A. I do. 25 

Q. Okay. There’s no indication here 26 
that Environmental Services ever used the project 27 
risk management plan, correct? 28 

A. Yeah. In those two paragraphs, 29 
there’s no indication of that. 30 

Q. And the project risk management plan 31 
is part of the capital justification process, as you 32 
understand it? 33 

A. As I understand it, yes. 34 

Q. Okay. So it’s not surprising that – 35 
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it’s not surprising if the Environmental Services 1 
Department did not use that form that has the 2 
Environmental legal box on it from your Schedule 9,  3 
that wouldn't be surprising, would it? 4 

A. I think it begs the question of who 5 
was supposed to check the legal and environmental  6 
risk of a project. 7 

Q. Which you don't know? 8 

A. I don't know. 9 

Q. Okay. And so if the Environmental 10 
Services Department says they did not deal with or 11 
use those forms from the project risk management plan 12 
in the course of the Environmental Services 13 
Department's work, that would not surprise you, would 14 
it? 15 

A. No. 16 

Q. And that would be consistent with 17 
what we just read in Paragraphs 385 and 386 of the 18 
judge's findings, correct? 19 

A. Yes.17 20 

The budgeting documents cited by Ms. Eubanks therefore do not contradict the 21 

testimony of Mr. Whitworth about ESD’s review of the Rush Island Projects for 22 

compliance with the permitting requirements, much less do they shed any light on why 23 

ESD concluded that no permitting was required, which is the central question for prudence. 24 

The undisputed evidence is that ESD was fully aware of the scope of the Rush Island 25 

Projects and based on its understanding of the law at the time, concluded NSR Permits 26 

were not required.  27 

 

 
17 File No. EF-2024-0021, Claire Eubanks Deposition, supra, p. 101, l. 11 to p. 103, l.2; p. 103, l.9 to p.     
106, l. 8. 
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V. TAUM SAUK 1 

Q. Staff suggests that the process by which the Environmental Services 2 

Department made its permitting decisions on the Rush Island Project may have been 3 

flawed, citing the Taum Sauk impoundment failure. How do you respond? 4 

A. I was Vice President of Power Operations at the time of the Taum Sauk 5 

impoundment failure. Unlike Ms. Eubanks, I have personal knowledge of the Taum Sauk 6 

impoundment failure, the subsequent investigation and the problems it uncovered, and how 7 

Ameren Missouri corrected those issues. Taum Sauk had nothing to do with the 8 

Environmental Services Department and how it made permitting decisions. ESD took no 9 

actions prior to the failure, nor did it have responsibility or need to do so, nor did any of 10 

ESD’s work have anything to do with the failure. 11 

The root cause of the impoundment failure at Taum Sauk was poor design and 12 

construction techniques (in the 1960s, when it was designed and built). Specifically, there 13 

were fine-grained soil materials in the core of the dam that should not have been there. The 14 

precipitating event for the dam failure was the failure of individuals within Power 15 

Operations to communicate with each other about the water levels behind the dam. This 16 

failure to communicate was a failure that occurred within the Power Operations 17 

department, the group at Ameren Missouri that maintains and operates the power plants. 18 

There was no issue with a failure to communicate any information to ESD.    19 

After raising Taum Sauk in her rebuttal testimony and implying that it might have 20 

something to do with decision making around the Rush Island Projects, Ms. Eubanks 21 
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admitted in her deposition that neither this incident nor any subsequent findings speak to 1 

how ESD did or should operate in making permitting decisions.  2 

Q. So let's go to Exhibit 12, the Taum 3 
 Sauk. 4 

A. Okay. Exhibit 12. 5 

Q. Exhibit 12, thank you.  Do you 6 
recognize this? 7 

A. I do. 8 

Q. Can you just identify it for the 9 
identify [sic]? 10 

A. It's Staff's initial incident report 11 
dated October 24, 2007 in the matter of an 12 

 investigation into an incident in December 2005 at 13 
 the Taum Sauk pump storage project owned and operated  14 

by the Union Electric Company doing business as 15 
 Ameren UE. 16 

Q. Were you on staff at the time that 17 
 this report was prepared, Exhibit 12? 18 

A. No. 19 

Q. Okay.  Did you have any involvement 20 
 at all in the investigation into the Taum Sauk 21 
 failure? 22 

A. No. 23 

Q. How did you come to learn about the 24 
Taum Sauk failure? 25 

A. Initially I learned about it in 26 
college. I saw a presentation of the dam failure. 27 

Q. And do you have an understanding of 28 
 what the root causes of the dam failure were? 29 

A. I have a -- well, the presentation 30 
 was a long time ago and that was the topic of it. 31 
 But I have a general understanding from either, you  32 

know, Staff discussions or potentially what's laid 33 



Surrebuttal Testimony of 
Mark C. Birk 

30 

 out in this incident report. 1 

Q. What's your general understanding? 2 

A. That there was an instrument that was 3 
available to, you know, read the level of the water 4 

 behind the dam and it needed to be fixed and that was  5 
not done and the level of water was too much that the  6 
dam failed. Very general recollection of the  7 
incident. 8 

  … 9 

Q. Okay. The Environmental Services 10 
Department had nothing to do with the Taum Sauk dam 11 
failure, did they? 12 

A. Not to my knowledge, no. 13 

Q. Do you know whether they had any 14 
involvement in the issue relating to the instrument 15 
and the water levels that we just talked about? 16 

A. No  That was not their 17 
responsibility. 18 

Q. On Page 79 of this report there's a 19 
 discussion there about overcompartmentalization? 20 

A. Yes. 21 

Q. If you could turn to that. 22 

A. I'm there. 23 
 24 
Q. All right.  So if you read that 25 

section, starting on the bottom of 79 and over onto  26 
Page 80.  Let me know when you're ready, I'll have  27 
some questions for you about it. 28 

A. Okay.  I've read it. 29 

Q. Okay.  So this is the discussion in 30 
 the report about overcompartmentalization as a 31 
 contributing factor to the Taum Sauk failure; is that  32 

correct? 33 

A. Yes. 34 
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Q. And the problem that that created was 1 
a failure of communication? 2 

A. That's correct. 3 

… 4 

Q. Just in that first sentence it's  5 
described by Tom Voss in the section entitled errors  6 
in judgment, engineers and operators at Taum Sauk  7 
failed to effectively communicate critical  8 
information to each other.  Do you see that? 9 

A. I do see that, yes. 10 

Q. Okay. Was there ever any finding  11 
that there was a failure to communicate information  12 
to members of the Environmental Services Department  13 
in relation to Taum Sauk? 14 

A. No. 15 

Q. Was there ever any finding that there 16 
was a failure of the folks in power operations to 17 
communicate with others in the Ameren Services 18 

 Company? 19 

A. Specifically in staff incident 20 
report? 21 

Q. As relates to Taum Sauk, yes. 22 

A. Not that I'm aware of, no. 23 

Q. Was there any criticism of the 24 
Environmental Services Department anywhere in the 25 
investigation report, Exhibit Number 12? 26 

A. No. 27 

Q. Was the Environmental Services 28 
Department given new plans or recommendations coming  29 
out of the Taum Sauk investigation? 30 

A. So I did mention the project 31 
 management plan, which is a schedule in my testimony.   32 

Q. And do you know whether that was 33 
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 specifically to guide Environmental Services 1 
 Department operations? 2 

A. Let me find the exhibit real quick. So this is part of confidential 3 
schedule CME-R2. And it starts on Page 5 of 25. And this is the 4 
project management process that Ameren submitted in response to 5 
the Staff's invest – initial incident report. And -- 6 

Q. Do you see any reference in any of 7 
that to changing ESD's procedures? You're flipping 8 
back and forth -- 9 

A. I know. I'm just looking for 10 
 something in particular. 11 

Q. Do we need to go off the record to 12 
 find that? 13 

A. We can do that. 14 

(WHEREIN, the requested portion of the 15 
record was read by the court reporter.) 16 

THE WITNESS: So their internal 17 
 procedures, no.  But I do think that the project 18 
 management process was written in a way that 19 
 Environmental Services, or Environmental Safety and  20 

Health and Legal would be involved in projects after  21 
The implementation of it which I believe it was  22 
January 2008.18 23 

On further examination, Ms. Eubanks clarified her rebuttal testimony and noted she 24 

was not taking the position that any failures concerning Taum Sauk had anything to do 25 

with how ESD went about making its permitting decisions. 26 

Q. So you talk about  27 
overcompartmentalization and financial pressure as  28 
documented in the Taum Sauk investigation as being    29 
relevant for the work that Environmental Services did 30 
in relation to determining whether the Rush Island 31 
projects required permitting. I want to go back to  32 
that topic. 33 

 
18 File No. EF-2024-0021, Claire Eubanks Deposition, supra, p. 106, l. 9 to p 107, l. 22; p. 108, l. 2 to p. 109, 
l. 3; p. 109, l. 13 to p. 111, l. 21 (Emphasis Added). 
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A. Yeah. My testimony was not that that 1 
was relevant to specifically the work that 2 
Environmental Services did.19 3 

Under subsequent examination, Ms. Eubanks admitted that the 4 

“overcompartmentalization” (in other words, the failure to communicate) and “financial 5 

pressure” she cited in her Rebuttal Testimony from the Taum Sauk report had no role in 6 

ESD’s permitting decisions for the Rush Island Projects.  7 

Q. Did the failure to communicate with 8 
the Environmental Services Department about 9 
availability impact from the Rush Island projects 10 
have any role in the decisions that Environmental 11 
Services made prior to the work that it didn't 12 
trigger permitting? 13 

A. I can't speak to what they did prior 14 
to permitting because there's not documentation other  15 
than Mr. Whitworth's testimony. 16 

Q. So you're not saying that Ameren's 17 
Environmental Services Department would have made a  18 
different decision about whether the Rush Island 19 
projects triggered permitting if it had been given 20 
information about availability improvement? 21 

A. I don't know if they would have or 22 
not.  But it may have changed their opinion. 23 

Q. But you can't say that their opinions 24 
would or would not have changed if they had 25 
availability information? 26 

A. I don't know. 27 

Q. If the folks in the Environmental 28 
Services Department thought that availability 29 
improvement was not relevant to the permitting 30 
decision then it wouldn't matter whether they had 31 
that availability information, correct? They 32 
wouldn't reach the same decision? 33 

A. In the hypothetical that you laid 34 
 

19 Id., p. 116, l. 23 to p. 117, l. 7.   
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out, as far as I know it would not matter.20 1 

This is not a hypothetical.  It is a finding of the District Court, as Ms. Eubanks is well aware 2 

because she quotes it twice in her rebuttal testimony. “Mr. Hutcheson [in the 3 

Environmental Services Department] testified that he did not consider whether availability 4 

was expected to improve as a result of the projects because he did not think that 5 

information was ‘relevant’ or ‘necessary.’”21 6 

In addition to confirming that the “overcompartmentalization” was not a factor in 7 

ESD’s permitting decisions, Ms. Eubanks admitted under oath that the “financial pressure” 8 

cited in the Taum Sauk report also had nothing to do with those decisions. 9 

Q. In any of your review of the case 10 
materials or the submissions in this case, did 11 
anybody in the Environmental Services Department 12 
indicate that they were under financial pressure? 13 

 14 
A. No. 15 
 16 
Q. Did anybody in the Environmental 17 

Services Department indicate that the reason that no  18 
permitting was required by that department for the  19 
Rush Island projects had anything to do with money? 20 
 21 

A. No. 22 
 23 
Q. Did Judge Sippel or any of the court 24 

opinions suggest that the reasons why Environmental  25 
Services Department concluded that no permits were  26 
Required for these projects had anything to do with  27 
money? 28 

 29 
A. No.22 30 

 
20 Id., p. 118, l. 3 to p. 119, l. 5. 
21 File No. EF-2024-0021, Claire Eubanks Rebuttal Testimony, p. 15, ll. 1-4; p. 30, ll. 31-34 (Emphasis 
Added). 
22 File No. EF-2024-0021, Claire Eubanks Deposition, supra, p. 119, ll. 6-21. 
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Q. So, what relevance does Taum Sauk have to the issues this Commission 1 

must decide on the prudence of Ameren Missouri’s permitting decisions? 2 

A. None, as Ms. Eubanks admits in her deposition. Mr. Whitworth in his 3 

surrebuttal testimony confirms that nothing Ms. Eubanks offered in her Rebuttal Testimony 4 

concerning Taum Sauk described his experience working in ESD or affected ESD’s 5 

permitting decisions regarding Rush Island.  6 

VI. “AVAILABILITY” VERSUS “POTENTIAL EMISSIONS” 7 

Q. Staff cites a number of findings by the District Court that Ameren 8 

Missouri should have expected that the Rush Island Projects would improve annual 9 

unit availability, and notes that these findings were upheld by the Court of Appeals.  10 

Doesn’t that demonstrate imprudence? 11 

A. Absolutely not.  All that means is that, under the legal standards declared 12 

by the District Court and upheld by the Court of Appeals, NSR permits were required.  But 13 

again, whether NSR permits were required is not the issue for this Commission to decide.  14 

The prudence question in this case is whether the Company reasonably believed, in the 15 

2005-2010 period, that permits were not required.  The primary reason that ESD concluded 16 

the projects did not trigger permitting requirements, as explained by Mr. Whitworth, is that 17 

they were not expected to increase potential emissions.  Availability improvement (and any 18 

increase it might cause in actual emissions) has nothing to do with potential emissions, 19 

which are a function of the emissions rate at maximum designed capacity.  Staff agrees 20 

with this.   21 

Q. I do want to make sure that we're on 22 
the same page about potential emissions.  What does  23 
potential emissions mean to you? 24 

A. It's like the maximum amount it can 25 
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-- a unit can emit under, you know, full operation -- 1 
 or, you know, ambient conditions.  Probably horribly 2 
 phrased. 3 

Q. So at its maximum designed capacity? 4 

A. Yes 5 

Q. Now, as an environmental engineer you  6 
understand that the potential emissions from a unit  7 
has nothing to do with availability, correct? 8 

A. Potential emissions has nothing to do  9 
with availability, that is correct.23 10 

The District Court found that NSR permitting requirements apply if a unit increases 11 

its availability by a mere 0.3%, as Ms. Eubanks notes in her Rebuttal Testimony.24 But that 12 

is a different test than that which Ameren Missouri understood was the law at the time of 13 

the Rush Island Projects, as Staff agrees. 14 

Q. As you sit here today, is it your 15 
understanding that that approach that Ameren Missouri  16 
had was different from the determinations of law that 17 

 Judge Sippel made for the legal standards applicable 18 
 to permitting? 19 

A. The testimony Ameren Missouri has  20 
provided in this case as to what their understanding  21 
of the law was at the time of the projects is  22 
different than what the judge found, yes.25 23 

Given the facts and circumstances available to us at the time, nobody at the 24 

Company (to my knowledge) thought that increasing the availability of a unit would trigger 25 

permitting requirements under the Missouri SIP—much less that such a tiny change in 26 

availability would trigger NSR requirements.   27 

 
23 File No. EF-2024-0021, Claire Eubanks Deposition, supra, p. 29, l. 23 to p. 30, l. 6; p. 40, ll. 17-21.  
24 File No. EF-2024-0021, Claire Eubanks Rebuttal Testimony, p. 10, l1-30. 
25 File No. EF-2024-0021, Claire Eubanks Deposition, supra, p. 21, ll. 10-18.  
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A coal-fired electric generating unit consists of thousands of components, as I 1 

described in my Direct Testimony.  The failure of any one of them can affect unit 2 

availability.  Many other things can impact unit availability as well, such as how the unit 3 

is operated or how planned outages are scheduled.  This is something I explained to Staff 4 

back in 2003, as noted by Ms. Eubanks in her rebuttal testimony.26 A unit is unavailable 5 

during planned outages, just as it is unavailable during forced outages.  So, the greater the 6 

number of planned outage hours during a time period, the lower the unit availability.  The 7 

“major unit overhauls” I described in 2003 and quoted by Ms. Eubanks are planned 8 

outages.  The driver for moving to the “super outage” concept was reducing the number of 9 

planned outage hours, thereby improving unit availability, without having that offset by an 10 

increase in the number of forced outage hours (which would lower availability).  We were 11 

looking for ways to reduce planned outage hours because planned outage hours—not 12 

forced outage hours or derates caused by boiler equipment problems—had the biggest 13 

impact on unit availability across the entire fossil fleet.27     14 

The fact that lots of factors can impact unit availability is the very reason why 15 

availability was part of the Company’s broad incentive program, cited by Ms. Eubanks in 16 

her Rebuttal Testimony.28 This is also demonstrated in the availability data for Rush Island 17 

Unit 1 and Rush Island Unit 2 in the years leading up to the Rush Island Projects, reflected 18 

in the attached Schedule MCB-S1.  Availability changed from year to year in the ten years 19 

 
26File No. EF-2024-0021, Claire Eubanks Rebuttal Testimony, p. 39, ll. 24-31. 
27 My 2003 response to Staff talked about changes in availability that could be obtained by changing the 
schedule for planned outages and the accumulated planned outage hours. I did not address the impact on 
availability that would be expected from any item of work to be performed during a planned outage.     
28 File No. EF-2024-0021, Claire Eubanks Rebuttal Testimony, p. 15, ll. 9-10. 
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prior to the projects on each unit.  Sometimes availability moved up, sometimes it moved 1 

down—but from year to year the change was always greater than 0.3%.     2 

The District Court found that the Company should have expected and did expect 3 

that the Rush Island Projects would cause unit availability to increase more than 0.3%, and 4 

that such an expectation triggered the requirement to get NSR permits.29  But that is beside 5 

the point here and had nothing to do with the issue of prudence, where the focus is on why 6 

we did not get NSR permits.  The Company did not get NSR permits because—first and 7 

foremost—we understood the law to require permits only when a project would cause 8 

potential emissions to increase, and we did not think that increasing unit availability would 9 

change the potential emissions.  Staff agrees that this is a reasonable conclusion, as I 10 

discuss above.  The prudence question for the Commission to decide therefore comes down 11 

to whether the Company’s understanding of the law (that only a potential emissions 12 

increase would trigger permitting requirements) was reasonable at the time of the Rush 13 

Island Projects.  For the reasons set forth in the testimony of Messrs. Whitworth, 14 

Holmstead, and Moor I believe that understanding was reasonable.   15 

Q. But Staff points out in their rebuttal testimony that the District Court 16 

stated that the Company’s failure to obtain NSR permits “was not reasonable.”30  17 

Doesn’t that line from the District Court resolve the issue of prudence against the 18 

Company? 19 

A. No, as I have already explained in my Direct Testimony, and as Mr. 20 

Holmstead and Mr. Moor explain in their Surrebuttal Testimonies.  That line in the District 21 

 
29 Id. at p. 10, ll. 27-30.  
30File No. EF-2024-0021, Claire Eubanks Rebuttal Testimony, p. 11, ll. 23-25; File No. EF-2024-0021 
Keith Major Rebuttal Testimony, p. 13, ll. 8-10.  
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Court’s remedy decision cites to and refers back to the District Court’s earlier liability 1 

opinion, in which the District Court held that the emissions calculations that Ameren 2 

Missouri developed after the fact and presented at trial through witnesses Michael 3 

Hutcheson and Sandra Ringelstetter, for the purpose of showing that the Rush Island 4 

Projects would not have been expected to cause actual emissions to increase, were not  5 

reasonable applications of the federal NSR regulations.  As Staff acknowledges, these 6 

after-the-fact calculations were different from the Company’s pre-project qualitative 7 

analyses described by Mr. Whitworth.   8 

Q. Okay.  But as you sit here today, 9 
you're not going to dispute any testimony that Mr. 10 
Whitworth has offered that there was a review prior 11 
the 2010 outage of the projects? 12 

A. So specifically a review and not a 13 
quantitative kind of analysis that Mr. Hutcheson did  14 
that did -- that my understanding at least is after  15 
the project had commenced. 16 

Q. Right. 17 

A. So you're saying a qualitative  18 
review? 19 

Q. Correct. 20 

A. I don't have any information to, you 21 
know, state one way or the other. 22 

Q. And you understand that there was a 23 
difference between Mr. Hutcheson's 24 
calculations that occurred after the project began on  25 
Unit 2 and the pre-project review that occurred for 26 
Unit's 2 scope through the Environmental Services 27 
Department, that qualitative review? 28 

A. I have not seen any documentation of  29 
their qualitative review so I can't speak to whether  30 
his quantitative analysis was different than the  31 
qualitative analysis they may or may not have done.  32 
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Q. So we’re really talking about two  1 
different things, the qualitative analysis that you  2 
say may or may not have been done and then the Mike  3 
Hutcheson’s calculations which came after the fact,  4 
those are two different things you understand? 5 

A. They are two different things, yes.31 6 

The District Court’s rejection of our trial calculations as not reasonable has nothing 7 

to do with our legal position on potential emissions as the relevant trigger for permitting 8 

requirements to apply under the Missouri SIP or with our legal position on the proper scope 9 

and application of the RMRR exclusion, or the reasonableness of ESD’s pre-project 10 

assessments of the Rush Island Projects for NSR permitting requirements.           11 

VII. EPA’S NEW SOURCE REVIEW ENFORCEMENT INITIATIVE 12 

Q. If the Company believed that the Rush Island Projects did not trigger 13 

NSR requirements, then why did it consider settling NSR claims with EPA?   14 

A. In the mid-2000s, EPA proposed a number of rules that would tighten the 15 

emissions requirements from coal-fired power plants, independent of any NSR 16 

requirements.  As any prudent utility would, Ameren Missouri studied the potential impact 17 

of these rules to determine what additional controls would be required for its coal-fired 18 

plants, and when those controls would need to be installed.  At the same time, EPA had 19 

launched an investigation of NSR compliance on Ameren Missouri’s affiliates’ Illinois 20 

fleet.  One outcome of that investigation in Illinois was discussion of a potential resolution 21 

of disputed NSR claims.  Even before EPA expanded its investigation to Ameren Missouri, 22 

EPA’s position was that settlement should cover both the Illinois plants and Ameren 23 

Missouri plants.     24 

 
31 File No. EF-2024-0021, Claire Eubanks Deposition, supra, p. 26, l. 19 to p. 27, l. 23. 
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Thus, in developing the environmental compliance plans for Ameren Missouri, it 1 

was reasonable for the Company to consider whether the sort of Ameren-wide settlement 2 

demanded by EPA would require anything more than what EPA’s CAIR would require.  3 

And Staff agrees that is what a prudent utility would do, as confirmed by Ms. Eubanks in 4 

her deposition. 5 

Q. Would it have been reasonable for the 6 
Company to consider settling potential NSR claims if 7 
it was going to have to put the controls on anyway as 8 
a result of EPA rules like CAIR? 9 

A. Yes, I think that would be reasonable.32 10 
 11 

But that does not mean we thought there was some risk that any of the completed 12 

or upcoming Rush Island Projects (or any project) had triggered NSR or would trigger NSR 13 

in the future.  Staff agrees with that.  When examined about the schedules attached to her 14 

rebuttal testimony referencing settlement talks with EPA, Ms. Eubanks confirmed this fact. 15 

Q. Is there anything in this document[33] 16 
that indicates to you that the Company believed it  17 
had triggered New Source Review on any Rush Island  18 
project? 19 

A. No. 20 

Q. Or that it would trigger New Source 21 
Review for any upcoming Rush Island project? 22 

A. No. 23 

Q. And you understand that the 24 
settlement of New Source Review claims with EPA  25 
typically take the form of consent decrees? 26 

A. That's my understanding, yes. 27 

Q. And one example of that is Exhibit 16 28 

 
32 File No. EF-2024-0021 Claire Eubanks Deposition, supra, p. 155, l. 3-8. 
33 The document referenced is Schedule CME-R3 in Ms. Eubanks’ Rebuttal Testimony and marked as 
Exhibit 15 to her deposition.  Eubanks Deposition, supra, p. 151, ll. 2-15. 
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which you have in front of you. Do you see 1 
Exhibit 16? 2 

A. I see Exhibit 16. 3 

Q. And is it your understanding that in 4 
settling an NSR case that the [c]ompany maintains its 5 
position it did not violate New Source Review?  Is 6 
that typically what you understand the companies do? 7 

A. I have seen that happen, yes. 8 

 Q. Okay.  So if you look at Page 1, it's 9 
the page numbered one of this Exhibit 16, you see the 10 
final whereas clause at the bottom of the page? 11 

A. Yes. 12 

Q. It says, whereas Westar has denied 13 
and continues to deny the violations alleged in the  14 
complaint? 15 

A. Yes. 16 

Q. Okay.  And this is a complaint for 17 
New Source Review violations that we talked about in  18 
the rate case, right? 19 

A. I don’t know that – I don’t recall 20 
If we talked about it or not.ꞏ But I believe this is  21 
the Jeffrey Unit 2. 22 

Q. Correct. 23 

A. Yes. 24 

Q. A New Source Review case? 25 

A. Yes. 26 

Q. Okay.  So it was not the case that 27 
Westar had to confess that it was liable for 28 
violating New Source Review in order to settle the 29 
case, right? 30 

A. I'm not aware of that, no. 31 

… 32 
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Q. So going into a settlement discussion 1 
In your mind with EPA would not indicate some sort of  2 
guilty knowledge that the utility thinks it violated 3 
New Source Review? 4 

A. No.34  5 

Therefore, in developing its environmental compliance plans, the driver was always 6 

CAIR (and later its replacement, CSAPR) and what those rules required for compliance, 7 

because those were the only regulations we thought would require the retrofit of controls 8 

on any Missouri units.  So, yes, given that it appeared that CAIR might require adding 9 

controls to the Rush Island units anyway, and EPA's own linkage of NSR violations it had 10 

alleged as to our affiliates’ Illinois plants to Ameren Missouri plants, it might have made 11 

sense to agree in a settlement to add controls to Rush Island even if we believed there were 12 

no NSR violations with respect to Rush Island.  As I discuss later in my testimony, we did 13 

believe that CAIR could require that we add scrubbers to Rush Island, which is why we 14 

performed engineering and specification development work to add scrubbers to Rush 15 

Island.  As it turned out after the rules were pared back after litigation over them, neither 16 

CAIR nor its replacement CSAPR ended up requiring that we add scrubbers to Rush Island.  17 

Given that we were not otherwise required to scrub Rush Island and our belief that we had 18 

not violated the NSR requirements, we did not settle with EPA, but it made sense to 19 

consider it.  As Company witness Michels’ Surrebuttal Testimony indicates, by not settling 20 

and scrubbing Rush Island, we saved customers hundreds of millions or as a much as a 21 

billion dollars or more.  22 

Q. Regarding the Company’s environmental compliance planning, Ms. 23 

Eubanks attempts to draw a negative inference from the fact that the Company could 24 

 
34 File No. EF-2024-0021, Claire Eubanks Deposition, supra, p. 156, l. 11 to p. 158, l. 4; p. 158, l. 11 to l. 15.  
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not locate any documents responsive to Staff Data Request 11.1, which sought 1 

documents related to a line in a 2007 memo suggesting that in developing the 2 

Company’s environmental compliance plan for CAIR, the Company analyze the 3 

potential impact on that plan of a NSR violation being found.35 How do you respond? 4 

A. I will put aside the question of whether it is reasonable for Ms. Eubanks to 5 

expect the Company to retain internal correspondence for more than sixteen years and go 6 

to the heart of the issue.  I was personally involved in the Company’s environmental 7 

compliance planning in this time period.  That environmental compliance planning process 8 

was separate from the ongoing work by ESD to review projects as they came up, and did 9 

not attempt to duplicate it.  Re-review of projects for potential NSR applicability was 10 

beyond the purview of the environmental compliance planning team, and thus not part of 11 

anything that team asked the Legal Department to do.  What the environmental compliance 12 

planning team did do was evaluate what CAIR (and later CSAPR) would require for 13 

compliance and consider whether the environmental compliance plan would be sensitive 14 

to a scenario in which NSR would hypothetically be triggered (e.g., if CAIR required 15 

scrubbing anyway, the plan might not change even if NSR were triggered).      16 

Ameren Missouri had been following the NSR enforcement initiative through its 17 

membership in the Utility Air Regulatory Group, where the Company was represented by 18 

Mr. Whitworth, in-house counsel, and others.  We therefore knew what EPA asks for in 19 

such litigation:  the imposition of additional controls (such as a scrubber for sulfur dioxide) 20 

and the forfeiture of allowances.  And as Ms. Eubanks herself notes in her rebuttal 21 

testimony, this is something I explained to the OPC in 2009.  Although I cannot state with 22 

 
35 File No. EF-2024-0021, Claire Eubanks Rebuttal, p. 18, l. 6 to p. 19 l. 15. 
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precision when I gained this understanding of what would be on the table in an NSR 1 

enforcement suit, because I was in frequent dialog with in-house counsel about NSR 2 

requirements and EPA’s NSR enforcement initiative over the years, I believe that this 3 

understanding that I relayed to the OPC would have been the product of such conversations.  4 

At no point in any of my discussions with in-house counsel do I recall anybody taking the 5 

position that Ameren Missouri likely violated the law.  From my discussions with both 6 

ESD and in-house counsel, I saw no misalignment on the relevant legal standards for 7 

determining permitting requirements.   8 

Q. But don’t Staff and Mr. Seaver suggest that the Company perceived 9 

some risk of being found in violation when it undertook the Rush Island Projects? 10 

A. That is not Staff’s position.  Although Ms. Eubanks’ Rebuttal Testimony 11 

could be read that way, she clarified at her deposition that she asserts no such thing.   12 

Q. If you could turn to -- I think it's 13 
on Page 17 of your rebuttal testimony. 14 

A. Okay.  I am there. 15 

Q. I don't know if it's exactly Line 30 16 
but there's a question that says are there other 17 
contemporaneous documents suggesting that Ameren  18 
Missouri understood the risk of violation before 19 
approval of the 2010 project.  Do you see that? 20 

A. Yes.  That begins on Page 18. 21 

Q. Okay.  Great. 22 

A. On my version. 23 

Q. All right.  And then your answer is, 24 
yes, correct? 25 

A. Yes. 26 

Q. Okay.  Are you saying that Ameren 27 
believed that these Rush Island projects risked 28 



Surrebuttal Testimony of 
Mark C. Birk 

46 

triggering New Source Review? 1 

A. No.  I'm saying that there are 2 
documents from the time that suggest to Ameren 3 
Missouri that violating New Source Review has risks. 4 

Q. Okay.  But you're not saying that 5 
Ameren employees understood that these specific Rush 6 
Island projects risked triggering New Source Review? 7 

A. I think the only document -- no. 8 

Q. No, you're not saying that Ameren 9 
employees thought that these specific Rush Island 10 
projects risked NSR triggering? 11 

A. These documents talk about Ameren 12 
Missouri's understanding of New Source Review and the  13 
risks related to, you know, either a violation or 14 
triggering New Source Review not specifically the 15 
Rush Island 2007 and 2010 project. 16 

Q. Was there any documentation that you saw that indicated to you that 17 
an Ameren employee thought that those specific Rush Island 18 
projects risked triggering New Source Review? 19 

A. No.36 20 

Ms. Eubanks is correct:  the documents that she describes on page 18 and 19 of her Rebuttal 21 

Testimony, some of which were cited by the District Court, do nothing more than show we 22 

were aware of what the consequences for violating NSR would be—not that we believed 23 

any project had triggered or would trigger NSR.   24 

Q. Did Ameren Missouri believe that the Rush Island Projects risked 25 

triggering NSR? 26 

A. No.  We did not believe the Rush Island Projects triggered permitting 27 

requirements, and we did not find it likely that a court would disagree with us down the 28 

road.  That was a reasonable position, as Messrs. Whitworth, Holmstead and Moor explain.   29 

 
36 File No. EF-2024-0021, Claire Eubanks Deposition, supra, p. 140, l. 9 to p. 141, l. 20 (Emphasis Added). 
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Q. But didn’t the District Court make a contrary finding? 1 

A. No. Ms. Eubanks quotes from the District Court remedy decision, where the 2 

District Court stated that certain documents “indicate” that the Company “was aware of the 3 

possibility” that NSR would be triggered at Rush Island.37  We agree with the way the 4 

District Court qualified its language because the document it discusses—a May 13, 2009 5 

memo from third party contractor Black & Veatch—does not evaluate any project for NSR 6 

applicability, much less the Rush Island Projects at issue, as Ms. Eubanks acknowledged 7 

in her deposition in the testimony I quote above.38  The “risk” discussed in that document 8 

by Black & Veatch is the risk that if EPA raises a NSR issue with Ameren Missouri, it 9 

could impact the schedule for the installation of scrubbers that was otherwise – apart from 10 

any NSR considerations – established by the Company’s then-current Environmental 11 

Compliance Plan for CAIR and CSAPR.  Because the installation of scrubbers on a unit 12 

would likely moot any NSR claim for such unit, the Company could adjust the schedule 13 

for installation in case any NSR claim came up.  And that is precisely what I meant in the 14 

 
37 File No. EF-2024-0021, Claire Eubanks Rebuttal Testimony, p. 18, l. 26 to p. 19, l. 5 (quoting paragraph 
398 of the District Court remedy decision).  
38 A subsequent July 2009 Black & Veatch report was submitted by the Company in its 2009-2010 rate 
case (File. No. EA-2010-0036) in support of the estimated retirement dates included in its depreciation 
study. It was an actuarial study of hundreds of other coal plants around the country performed to estimate 
how long the Ameren Missouri units would live.  It had nothing to do with NSR permitting and did not 
analyze NSR permitting requirements. Schedule LWL-E1 to the Direct Testimony of Black & Veatch 
engineer Larry W. Loos, File No. ER-2010-0036 (“In this report we provide informed estimates of the 
retirement dates for the four Union Electric Company d/b/a AmerenUE (AmerenUE or Company) coal-
fired plants. We base our estimated retirement dates on AmerenUE’s actual retirement history, our 
assessment of the plants’ current condition, our understanding of planned capital expenditures, life spans of 
other US coal plants, and engineering and environmental compliance considerations.  *** The most 
important factor in determining the depreciation rate for unit property is the informed estimate of the final 
retirement date. In forecasting final retirement dates for AmerenUE’s coal-fired plants we consider 
actuarial analysis of historical experience of the interim and final retirements of AmerenUE’s coal-fired 
generating facilities, planned capital additions, the age at retirement of plants retired in the US, expected 
dates of retirement for comparable plants in the US, the current condition of AmerenUE’s plants, and 
engineering and environmental considerations.”). 
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discussion I had with members of the OPC in June 2009, as reported by Ms. Eubanks on 1 

page 19 of her Rebuttal Testimony.  Did Ameren Missouri know the consequences of an 2 

NSR violation?  Yes, of course.  But that does not mean we thought an NSR violation had 3 

occurred or would occur.   4 

Q. What does Mr. Seaver say about this? 5 

A. Mr. Seaver fundamentally misstates my Direct Testimony when he cites it 6 

about EPA “flip-flopping” during the course of the litigation on what was or was not an 7 

alleged violation by Ameren Missouri,39 and says that such testimony shows that Ameren 8 

Missouri incurred an unreasonable risk in proceeding with the Rush Island Projects without 9 

seeking NSR permits.  My description of EPA’s flip-flopping on its allegations against 10 

Ameren Missouri covered only that period of time after receipt of the initial EPA notice of 11 

violation.  No fair reading of my Direct Testimony could lead one to think otherwise.  The 12 

problem for Mr. Seaver is that this flip-flopping by EPA in its contentions about what 13 

Ameren Missouri did wrong, as I describe in my Direct Testimony, all postdated the 14 

relevant decisions made by ESD, which were made before the Rush Island Projects began.  15 

Because EPA’s flip-flopping in its contentions about what Ameren Missouri did wrong are 16 

entirely post-decisional, and not part of the facts and circumstances available to the 17 

Company when we made the decision that permits were not required, that flip-flopping by 18 

EPA cannot form the basis of any claim of imprudence around the Company’s permitting 19 

decisions.  Company witness John Reed's Direct Testimony discusses in detail that 20 

hindsight cannot be used to judge a utility's decisions, including his direct quotes to the 21 

Commission's own statements stating as much.   22 

 
39 File No. EF-2024-0021 Jordan Seaver Rebuttal Testimony, p. 3, l. 23 to p. 4, l. 2 n. 2 (citing Birk Direct, 
p. 20, l.. 13 to p. 21, l. 26). 
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Given the law as we understood it at the time, the public statements by EPA about 1 

the application of the law, the statements by MDNR about the law and MDNR’s application 2 

of the law to similar projects in Missouri, and the fact that courts were largely rejecting 3 

EPA’s NSR claims—all as explained by Messrs. Whitworth, Holmstead and Moor—we 4 

did not believe that there was a significant risk that the Rush Island Projects would trigger 5 

NSR.  I firmly believe that this belief was reasonable at the time, given the facts and 6 

circumstances that were available to the Company.  And I firmly believe that the 7 

conclusions we made then—that permits were not required for the Rush Island Projects—8 

were prudent and reasonable.       9 

VIII. RUSH ISLAND-SPECIFIC SCRUBBER STUDIES 10 

Q. Earlier you referenced studies related to a possible addition of 11 

scrubbers at Rush Island to apply with CAIR (unrelated to any NSR considerations).  12 

Mr. Lansford has included the cost of these studies in the Energy Transition Costs in 13 

this case.  Please explain what these studies are and why they were done. 14 

A.  As discussed in more detail below, the Company commissioned two Rush 15 

Island-specific scrubber studies in the 2010 – 2011 timeframe, one from engineering firm 16 

Black & Veatch and one from engineering firm Shaw.  As I referenced earlier, the 17 

Company commissioned the studies as part of its ongoing environmental compliance 18 

planning to ensure it could timely comply with anticipated federal environmental 19 

regulations being proposed around the time the studies were conducted but ultimately the 20 

Company was able to comply with final regulations without installing expensive FGD 21 

equipment at Rush Island.  Therefore, the projects (the costs of which were properly 22 
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recorded to construction work in progress ("CWIP")) did not result in actual construction 1 

and will be abandoned upon the plant's retirement later this year. 2 

Staff witness Majors argues that the cost of the studies should not be included in 3 

the Energy Transition Costs.  Specifically, Mr. Majors indicates that Staff "recommends 4 

exclusion of costs related to a study for the installation of environmental equipment that 5 

was never used and useful nor would have been in the near future."40  The studies cost 6 

approximately $9 million. 7 

Q. Why is it appropriate to include the cost of these studies in the Energy 8 

Transition Costs to be securitized in this docket? 9 

A. First, for reasons I will discuss below the costs were prudently incurred in 10 

good faith.  Second, as the Commission recognized in the only other power plant retirement 11 

securitization case it has heard, which involved Empire's Asbury coal plant, capital projects 12 

that were started but not completed due to the retirement of a plant are eligible Energy 13 

Transition Costs within the terms of the securitization statute.41   In fact, much like the 14 

FGD studies at issue in this docket, the abandoned project costs which the Commission 15 

approved for inclusion in Empire's Energy Transition Costs were also projects undertaken 16 

(but not completed since Asbury retired) to comply with upcoming environmental 17 

regulations.42  The facts appear to be that had Asbury not retired, those CWIP 18 

environmental projects would have been completed but since retiring Asbury was more 19 

economical than not retiring it, the projects were abandoned.  Similarly, we know that given 20 

 
40 File No. EF-2024-0021 Keith Majors Rebuttal Testimony, p. 3, ll. 4-6.  
41 Amended Report and Order, File Nos. EO-2022-0040, EO-2022-0193, p. 67, Conclusion of Law UU.   
42 Surrebuttal Testimony of Empire witness Charlotte Emery, Ex. 8, File Nos. EO-2022-0040, EO-2022-
0193, p. 26, ll. 6-8 ("These projects were undertaken a number of years ago in good faith to comply with 
upcoming environmental regulations."); Amended Report and Order, supra, p. 66 (Identifying the projects 
at issue as "abandoned environmental capital projects").   
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the federal district court's 2019 remedy order, the only way that we could have continued 1 

to operate Rush Island – if doing so had been in customers' best interest – would have been 2 

to install FGD, in which case, those FGD studies would also have been useful.   3 

Q.  Mr. Majors seems to make something of the fact that these FGD study 4 

projects may not have been "actual physical projects that would have been used and 5 

useful and in service in the near future" as an apparent means to distinguish them 6 

from other abandoned capital projects Staff agrees should be included in the Energy 7 

Transition Costs.43 Does the distinction he is apparently trying to make matter? 8 

A. No.  This appears to be a variation on a "used and useful" argument, but the 9 

Commission has also specifically concluded that the question of used and useful does not 10 

control whether abandoned project costs are properly included in Energy Transition Costs 11 

in a securitization case.44   12 

Q. Please provide some additional context regarding why these capital 13 

project costs were incurred. 14 

A. As discussed in Schedule MCB-S5 attached to my surrebuttal testimony, 15 

we explained the projects to Staff and other stakeholders during a semi-annual 16 

environmental compliance briefing at the Commission's offices in 2009.  One of the key 17 

EPA rules at issue at that time was the Clean Air Interstate Rule ("CAIR") which required 18 

large emissions reductions for both NOx and SO2 in the by the end of 2015.  We were thus 19 

in a situation where we might be able to use our SO2 emission allowances to avoid 20 

installing FGD at Rush Island (this would depend in part on the outcome of CAIR-related 21 

litigation which was ongoing at the time) but there was also a significant risk that we would 22 

 
43 File No. EF-2024-0021 Keith Majors Rebuttal Testimony, p. 3, ll. 2-3. 
44 Amended Report and Order, supra, p. 67. 
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be unable to comply without installing FGD at Rush Island and that we would need to have 1 

the FGD units running by January 1, 2016.  To ensure that we could timely comply – 2 

because designing, engineering, permitting, and placing FGD in service is a multi-year 3 

process -- we believed it was necessary and prudent for us to commission Rush Island-4 

specific studies that would then be used to bid actual FGD installations if that compliance 5 

option became necessary.    6 

Q. Did Staff or any other stakeholder indicate at that time, or at any time, 7 

that the studies should not be undertaken, that they weren't necessary as part of the 8 

Company's environmental compliance planning? 9 

A. No, they did not. 10 

Q. FGD installations did not become necessary, right?  11 

A. That's right.  A combination of final CAIR regulations that were not as 12 

onerous as proposed and actions we took to switch our fuel supply to ultra-low sulfur coal 13 

allowed us to avoid installing expensive FGD equipment.  And then after the Eighth Circuit 14 

Court of Appeals ruled in the litigation, when faced with being forced to install FGD to 15 

keep the plant open versus retiring it, we made the choice that was in customers' best 16 

interest (as Mr. Michels' direct and surrebuttal testimonies demonstrate – and a fact with 17 

which Staff agrees) – to retire the plant rather than install FGD.   18 

Q. Mr. Majors "question[s] the relevance and usefulness" of the studies 19 

due to their age, suggesting they may be obsolete.45  How do you respond? 20 

A. Mr. Majors misses the fundamental point: we undertook the studies 21 

prudently and in good faith in response to What EPA’s proposed CAIR would have 22 

 
45 File No. EF-2024-0021 Keith Majors Rebuttal Testimony, p. 17, ll. 17-20. 
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required.  The studies were used by the Company to prepare for the large emission 1 

reductions required under the then-anticipated regulations, and they were pursued as part 2 

of our service obligation to customers to plan for compliance with future regulations. 3 

Further, had the Company decided to install scrubbers after the Eighth Circuit Court 4 

of Appeals affirmed the District Court’s liability ruling, the studies would have been used 5 

as the starting point for planning the installation of scrubbers at Rush Island, because they 6 

are plant and site specific and the technology, configuration, and capacity of Rush Island 7 

have not changed in any significant way.46  However, because closing the plant was in 8 

customers' best interests, the studies cannot be used not, and therefore, the costs should be 9 

included in Energy Transition Costs because the plant’s closure now requires that the costs 10 

be abandoned.     11 

Q. And after the District Court's decision, as discussed by Mr. Michels in 12 

his direct and surrebuttal testimonies, the Company determined that it was not in 13 

customers' best interest to install that equipment in response to the court decision, 14 

correct? 15 

A. Yes. After the Eighth Circuit upheld the District Court’s ruling on liability, 16 

we continued to look for a more cost-effective compliance option for customers and when 17 

we found one, we stopped spending on the study projects – we never imposed hundreds of 18 

millions of dollars of scrubber costs on our customers. When we found one, we stopped 19 

spending on the planning and installation of scrubbers at Rush Island, and therefore we 20 

never imposed hundreds of millions of dollars of scrubber costs on our customers.  Instead, 21 

we made the retirement decision in 2021, also in our customers' best interest.  22 

 
46 The studies in fact informed estimates we made to make decisions about whether we should install 
scrubbers. 
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Q. OPC witness Manzell Payne also opposes inclusion of the FGD study 1 

costs in the energy transition costs.  Do you have any comments on Mr. Payne's 2 

position? 3 

A. Mr. Payne appears only to oppose including these costs in the Energy 4 

Transition Costs but does not necessarily oppose recovery of them by some other means.  5 

Company witness Mitch Lansford will address that issue in his surrebuttal testimony.   6 

Q. Does this conclude your surrebuttal testimony? 7 

A. Yes, it does.8 
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DATE NAG SH Act Rel GHR EFOR EFORd EAF GCF

1997 3,507,339 7819.80 23 100% 9,794 5.43 5.43 86.36 69.07

1998 3,726,246 7651.27 14 93% 9,861 10.77 10.77 81.34 73.15

1999 3,510,300 7042.38 14 88% 10,125 5.05 5.05 77.94 68.68

2000 3,996,707 8127.65 20 95% 9,924 10.17 10.16 86.29 78.42

2001 2,996,862 5879.25 21 95% 9,866 18.11 18.11 65.93 59.06

2002 4,183,498 7667.90 16 100% 10,028 13.25 13.25 86.3 79.43

2003 4,314,312 8269.57 20 95% 10,060 4.66 4.66 91.99 81.92

2004 3,703,228 6712.57 15 94% 9,880 22.15 22.06 76.46 70.62

2005 4,225,196 7663.72 20 100% 9,440 12.12 12.12 86.54 79.90

2006 4,345,947 8328.88 9 82% 9,533 4.71 4.71 93.03 84.19

GAG

Performance Summary Report
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Island and Sioux

Report Period:

Rollup Weighting:
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DATE NAG SH Act Rel GHR EFOR EFORd EAF GCF

2000 3,898,859 7456.27 15 88% 9,764 5.43 5.43 82.14 76.31

2001 3,578,343 7058.75 21 100% 9,933 19.32 19.12 79 70.35

2002 3,300,076 6425.23 24 86% 10,045 9.37 9.37 72.26 64.95

2003 3,626,909 7134.20 21 95% 10,067 7.38 7.38 79.12 71.74

2004 3,788,793 7082.23 22 96% 9,943 13.95 13.95 77.64 72.30

2005 4,696,883 8566.23 3 100% 9,458 1.88 1.88 96.24 88.91

2006 4,390,443 8159.08 12 75% 9,528 5.45 5.45 91.78 84.98

2007 4,236,129 8364.32 5 100% 9,555 5.36 5.36 93.24 82.10

2008 4,209,132 8294.42 12 100% 9,651 6.15 6.15 92.4 81.39

2009 3,766,278 7905.17 11 100% 9,802 5.94 5.94 88.92 73.41

MicroGADS Performance Summary Report
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Table - Construction Estimated Man hours 
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Outage Critique 
Critique Meeting Minutes 
Table - Lessons Learned and Action Items 

Project Summaries 
AHS- Replace A & B APH rotors and seals (Sam Cardinale) 

Install APH Slag Diverter Baffles (Sam Cardinale 
Replace B APH Gearbox (Mike Clonts) 
Replace A APH Gearbox (Mike Clonts) 
Fabricate & Install APH support diagonal members (Mike Clonts) 

BAR- Replace Bottom Ash Line with Basalt Piping (Kevin Doble) 
Modify AP Crown, Anchors & Refractory (Kevin Doble) 

BCC -Perform Boiler Chemical Clean (Chris Taylor) 
BCF- Replace Ul Sample Conditioning System (Chris Taylor) 
BCW- Overhaul lB Boiler Circ Pump-Offsite (Kevin Dollie) 

Overhaul lD Boiler Circ Pump-Offsite (Kevin Doble) 
Short Inspect lA Boiler Circ Pump (Kevin Doble) 
Short Inspect 1 C Boiler Circ Pump (Kevin Dollie) 

BDS- Inspect U1 Stack (Mike Clonts) 
Unit 2 Stack Liner Supports (Mike Clonts) 
Replace A & B ID Fan Inlet Vane Pillow Block Bearings (Mike Clonts) 
Repair lD Mixed Air Gate Seal (Mike Clonts) 
Replace A &B ID Fan Coupling Blocks (Mike Clonts) 
Replace 1C Cold Air Damper (Mike Clonts) 
Replace (2) Economizer Duct Pipe Supports (Mike Clonts) 
DCS change Sec. Air Flow Transmitters (Jeff LaB rot) 
Rebuild Aux & Fuel Air Damper actuators (Jeff LaB rot) 

BFW- Modify lB HPBFPT #1 Bearing Cover for TSI (Jason Wibbemneyer) 
Perform Flow Accelerated Corrosion (FA C) Inspection (Gary Rogles) 
Maintain #4 DA Heater & Storage Tank (Matt Becker) 
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Repair #1 FWH Outlet Valve 1-HV913 (Matt Becker) 
Overhaul A, B & C BFBP Discharge Valve Operators C~v1att Becker) 
Replace 1A HPBFPT HP Governor Valve Insulation (Jviatt Becker) 
Repair #3 FWH Inlet Valve 1-HV9721 (Matt Becker) 
Repair #2 FWH Outlet Valve 1-HV9722 (Matt Becker) 
Overhaul A HPBFP (Matt Becker) 
Overhaul A HPBFP Turbine (Matt Becker) 
Inspect & Repair 1A HPBFP Recirc Valve 1-FV677 (Matt Becker) 
Inspect & Repair lB HPBFP Recirc Valve 1-FV678 (Matt Becker) 
ModifY DA Tank Level Switch Rack (Matt Becker) 
Replace 1A HPBFP Belly Drains (Matt Becker) 
Replace 1A HPBFP HP Stop Valve & Servo Motor (Matt Becker) 
Remove HPBFP Suction & Discharge Pressure Switches (Jeff LaB rot) 
Remove HPBFP Flow Transmitters (Jeff LaB rot) 
Chemical Clean# 1 FWH (Matt Becker) 
Install # l FWH Vent and Drain Piping Modification (Matt Becker) 

BLR- Install New Boiler Economizer Tubing (Mike Meyer) 
Install New Reheat Tubing (Mike Meyer) 
Install New Lower slope Tubing (Mike Meyer) 
Replace A, B & F Level Burners (Jim Barnett) 
Install & Remove Boiler Maintenance Work Platform (Steve Nehrkorn) 
Perform Critical Piping Inspection (Gary Rogles) 
Replace SHPP Front & Rear Circuits 1 thru 4 Bottom Bends (Steve Nehrkom) 
RT SH/ DESH Liner & Nozzle (Steve Nehrkorn) 
Maintain Burners and Burner Elbows (Jim Barnett) 
NDE Final SH Front Circuits 1&2 Dissimilar Welds (Steve Nehrkorn) 
Replace Final SH Dissimilar Welds (Steve Nehrkom) 
Replace Final SH Assemblies 71 &72 Rear Circuit 1 (Steve Nehrkorn) 
Replace SHPP Water Cooled Spacer Tube (Steve Nehrkorn) 
Perform Boiler Hydro & Repairs (Steve Nehrkom) 
Remove Furnace Pressure Switches (Jeff LaB rot) 
Modify A&B Level Igniters (Jeff LaB rot) 

CON- Epoxy Repair Condenser Inlet Water Boxes (Mike Clonts) 
Replace LP1 & LP2 Turbine Dog Bone Seals (Mike Clonts) 
Replace 1D Condenser Outlet Expansion Joint (Mike Clonts) 

CWS - Overhaul 1 A CWP Discharge Valve Operator (Kevin Dohle) 
OverhaullB CWP Discharge Valve Operator (Kevin Dohle) 
Repair 1A CWP Discharge Valve 1-HV921A (KevinDohle) 
Repair lB CWP Discharge Valve 1-HV921B (Kevin Dollie) 

EXS- Replace SA FWH Extraction Expansion Joint (Matt Becker) 
FAR- Repair Fly Ash Hoppers (Priority 1 mlly) (Kevin Dohle) 
GEN- Install New Generator Exciter (Sam Erter) 

Replace Generator H2 Side Seal Oil Pump (Kevin Dohle) 
GIC- Perforn1 DCS Unit Dow1lloads (JeffLabrot) 
PFS -ModifY Coal Mill Seal Air Supply Piping (Jim Barnett) 
PMS- Install Unit 1 & Unit 2 Mercury CEMS Inspection ports (Nick VonFeldt) 
PRC- Replace 1Al-3 Precipitator T/R Set (Nick VonFeldt) 

Maintain lAl-3 Precipitator (Nick VonFeldt) 
Maintain 1B3-4 Precipitator (Nick Von Feldt) 

SBS- Replace Long Lance Nozzle Heads with 4 hole design (Steve Nehrkorn) 
Replace 1-L4 Long Lance Opening (Steve Nehrkorn) 
Install New FSH Long Lance Openings (Steve Nehrkorn) 
Install (East Side) Long Lance Header Isolation Drain (Steve Nehrkorn) 
Install (North Side) Long Lance Header Isolation Valve (Steve Nehrkorn) 
Improve Ul Soot Blowing Flow lPV-2636 (Steve Nehrkorn) 

SSE- Install Construction Power Bus (Tom Buhr) 
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Replace Unit Transfonner LV Bushing & Mounting Studs (Herb Fischer) 
SYE- Replace Ul GSU Transfonner (Tom Buhr) 

Replace V4 Breaker (Greg Presti) 
TRB - Install New Main Turbine & HPBFPT TSI (Dave Pruyn) 

Overhaul LP 1 Turbine (Bob Huneke) 
Inspect LP2 Turbine (Dan Schaeffer) 
Replace Steam Chest Vent Valves (Kevin Dollie) 
Install Digital Turbine Oil Reservoir Level Gauge (Kevin Dohle) 
Refurbish LF & RT Side Throttle and Governor Valves (Scott Wibbemneyer) 
Inspect HP/ IP Turbine blade Path (Scott Wibbenmeyer) 
Install EH System Pall Ion Exchange Filter (Scott Wibbenmeyer) 
Replace Turbine Seal Oil Backup Pump (Kevin Dollie) 
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Executive Outage Summary Report 
Rush Island Unit #1 

February 17, 2007- May 28, 2007 

The Unit was shut down on Friday, February 16, 2007@ 22:30 PM for the plan Major Boiler Outage. Operations 
began there scheduled off-line cleaning on schedule. However, the RH area was found to be heavily built up with 
slag. As a result cleaning of this area delayed the installation of the Boiler Maintenance Work Platform (BMWP) by 
24 hours. 

Alstom was responsible for installation of the Major Capital boiler components (RH. Economizer. Lower Slope and 
Air Pre-heater replacements) and the O&M maintenance work in their area of responsibility. Scheck performed the 
boiler maintenance directly above the BMWP and burner area. As a result of manpower constraints and delays in the 
schedule, Scheck absorbed additional maintenance work from Alstom and the slag diverter capital work in the back 
pass. In additioiL the plant forces took back the O&M work on the upper slope area. Habetberger replaced the hot 
water coils with steam coils. Sachs Electric replaced the GSU transfonner and replaced the Generator exciter. 
Paynecrest installed the Power Station Construction Bus project. V4 breaker in the switchyard and installed the main 
turbine and HPBFP and turbine TSI. Wood group performed all of tl1e turbine maintenance this outage. Plant forces 
and GCMS performed the balance of the plant work. 

Significant unexpected work which impacted budget and resources were the Main Turbine Throttle valve seat 
replacement. 1D Boiler Circ Water pump overhaul. A&B Circ Water Discharge Valve repairs, A&B HPBFPT 
Discharge Valve repairs and the repairs to the Unit 2 stack liner support. 

Our original critical path was calculated tlrrough the Lower Slope replacement and Bottom Ash Pit maintenance 
work. As the project progressed, the critical path moved to the Reheat replacement due to wind delays and 
manpower management of the overall capital scope tlmt Alstom had under their area of responsibility. The result of 
delays extended the outage by 7days, 14 homs and 25 minutes from om original release date of May 20, 2007 @ 
23.30 PM. 

The Unit was chemically cleaned prior to release for startup. Testing of the exciter was accomplished by Goldfinch 
during the startup process. No significant startup issues were noted and the unit returned to service on May 28, 2007 
@ 13:55 PM. 

Subsequent to the unit release to load dispatch, tl1e unit tripped as a result of D A Level Control Valve LV -113 on 
June 07, 2007 @17:05 PM. In addition, during a routine valve test the main turbine LF upper Intercept failed. A 
Unit outage is scheduled for the fall of 2007 to repair the danmged valves. 

Outage KPI's: 

Safety- Plant (0) Recordable Injuries Construction (6) Recordable Injuries 
Schedule- Original RetliT11 Date May 20. 07 Due to construction delays the actual return date was May 28, 07. 
Budget- O&M Goal $9,701,048 Final 12,450.499 The plant received a variance for the Stack and Turbine 
Throttle valves which totaled $793,513. Capital Goal $48,569.584 Final $53,757.038. 
Quality -The Plant received (0) deficiencies Construction received ( 4) deficiencies. 

Reason for Outage: Scheduled Unit Overhaul and Capital improvements. The Major Capital projects are as 
follows: 
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Reheater -Econotnizer and Lo\ver Slope Replace1nent- Project 11506 
GSU Transformer Replacement- Project 13372 
Generator Exciter Replacement- Project 13376 
Hot Water Air Heater Replacement- Project 14045 
A&B APH Replacement- Project 14746 
Turbine Supervisory Instrumentation Upgrade- Project 14810 
Power Station Bus Installation Phase 1- Project 20176 
345 KV "V 4" Generator Breaker Replacement- Project 21265 

Critical Path: Reheat Outlet Header and Tubing Replacement, Boiler Chemical Cleaning and Exciter Testing 

Maintenance Released the Unit after Chemical Cleaning: May 24, 2007@ 18:30 PM 

Unit Returned to the Bus: May 28, 2007@ 13:55 PM 

Total Outage Time Bus to Bus: 100 Days, 15 Hours, 25 Min. 

Total Outage Labor Hours and Cost: 448,539 Hours@ $66,207,537 

Labot· Actual Hom·s: Maintenance Teclmicians Operations Contractor Outage Total 

Straight Time: 30,951 3849 384 * 324.055 359,239 

Overtime 3686 1147 6413 ** 78,054 89,300 

Total Hours 34,637*** 4996 6797 402,109 448,539 

* Note - Straight time man-hours do not include startup and shutdown 
**Note - This includes 1128 man-hours Operations OT for cleaning. 
***Note- Maintenance total reflects 2,266 man-hours of Maintenance work by POE/E,M,R's 

Outage Cost: 
Contract Labor O&M 
Contact Labor Capital 
Ameren Labor O&M 
Ameren Labor Capital 

Total Labor 

0& M Material Cost 
Capital Material Cost 
Scaffolding Costs 
Other Costs 
Chemical Cleaning 
Cleaning Cost 
Total Outage Cost 

$7,297,817 
$25,088,411 
$1,947,742 
$3,258,151 

$37,583,177 

$2,179,972 
$20.763,152 

$1,347.528 

Boiler Cleaning Cost: 
Expro Preoutage Water Blasting 
PMS Preoutage Cleaning 
Odesco Preoutage Vac Cleaning 
Odesco Outage Vac Cleaning 
Expro Explosive Cleaning 
Hartland Pump Rental 
Scaffolding for Cleaning 

Total Cleaning Cost 

$3,921,362 (Consulting, Material Loading, Rentals) 
$247,727 
$164 619 

$66.207,537 

Estimated Commet·cial Availability Loss (Genesis): $39,674,772.30 

$40,863 
$5.125 
$2,763 

$73,252 
$29.230 
$8,903 
$4.483 

$164,619 
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~~otcs: During this outage we experienced a work stoppage due to Van Dyke (transformer heavy hauler), not 
communicating with the union hall to have sufficient union representation on their project. The work stoppage 
affected the turbine work and all crane usage for one shift. 

Boilermaker tube welders were not available to fill our needs. Generally we were short 20 to 25 per shift throughout 
the outage. During the last 3 weeks of the outage we were also short Pipefitters and Insulators. The shortage of 
manpower contributed to the extent of the post outage work on the Boiler and Steam Coil projects. 

Click here to return to the Table of Contents 
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Post Outage Report 
2010 Unit 2 Spring Outage 

January 1, 2010 to April9, 2010 

Plant Manager: Dave Strub berg 
Gen Supervisor Outages: Jerry Odehnal 
Operations Coordinator: Keith Kraenzle 

Safety Supervisor: Debbie Buenniger 

Outage Critique: April21, 2010 
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Executive Outage Summary Report 
Rush Island Unit #2 

January 1, 2010- April 09, 2010 

The Unit was shut down on Friday, January L 2010 @ 18:53 PM for the plmmed Major Boiler Outage. This unit was on a 60 
month major overhaul cycle, due to budget constraints cycle was extended to 71 months. The last major overhaul was 
completed on February 12, 2004@ 19:23. 

Expro preformed the boiler explosive cleaning in the main firebox. Operations began their off-line cleaning as plam1ed. 
Firebox cleaning was completed on schedule for the boiler scaffold installation. However Nooter experienced a two day delay 
in getting in the APH due to cleaning and scaffolding resources resulting from critical path requirements for the RH. 

Scheck was responsible for installation of the Re-Heater, Economizer, Economizer Hopper Ash Flow Diverter Baffles and the 
O&M maintenance work in the boiler. Nooter replaced the APH (Rotor posts, Diaphragms and Baskets) and performed the 
O&M maintenance associated with APH drives, re-circulating pumps, motors and internal housing repairs. MCI replaced the 
surge bin hopper, gates and feeder pans. Haberberger replaced the Isophase Bus Duct Cooler, LP Turbine extraction expa11sion 
joints, a11d installed new gland steam and slop drain piping in the condenser. Schneider Electric replaced the 125V DC chargers 
and breakers as well as installing the new 345KV breaker protective relays. Sclmeider also supported the Isophase Bus Duct 
Cooler installation, Surge Bin and LP Turbine replacement. Wood Group replaced both LP Turbines and performed all of the 
turbine maintenance this outage. Plant, PCM and TRW forces installed the 6900V Arc Flash reduction project including 
breaker remote racking. They also perfonned the internal ash pit maintenance and the balance of the plant work. 

There were two significant jobs that were deferred from the outage scope as follows: The Circulating Water Pump Discharge 
Valves were deferred as a result of resource constraints and interferences with the TWS frazzle ice repairs on the caisson. Also, 
the Exciter Trip Check wiring modifications were aborted as a result of wiring connection drawing inconsistencies. Other 
minor scope was added to the project to maintain budget and fully utilize the plant and PCM resources. 

Our project critical path was the Re-Heater replacement. As a result of only 2 days of wind delays and good overall 
productivity and project management, Scheck was able to release Hydro and Gas Path approximately 3 days early. 

The Unit was chemically cleaned prior to release for startup. This outage we performed a Preliminary Copper Stage which 
added approximately 23 hours to the process. The mtit was released for startup on April 5, 2010 @ 9:00PM after unit trip 
checks and returned to the bus on April6, 2010@ 6:48PM. On April7, 2010@ 1:58 M1 the unit tripped on drum level. 
During roll down Operations noted sparking on the #6 Bearing oil Seal. Wood Group returned to site, measured seal cleara11ces 
andre-torqued all of the turbine oil seals. After turbine differential expansion issues were within design li1nits the unit was 
fired and returned to the bus on April7, 2010@ 4:16PM approximately 5 days ahead of schedule. The mtit was release for full 
load operation on April 09, 2010 at 9:50PM. 

The unit was rm1 at full load for turbine torsional testing and balance. Subsequently, the unit was taken off line on April 09, 
2010 to remove the Intercept Valve fine mesh screens wltich were installed as a result of the RH replacement. The removal of 
the Intercept Valve screens and torsional equipment went better than originally planned and unit was released to fire on April 
12, 2010 4:00AM. Due to the non-outage related H2 leakage into the stator cooling water system the startup was aborted on 
April 12, 2010 @ 3:04 PM. After repairs were made to Generator stator cooling water system the unit returned to tl1e bus on 
April 24, 2010 @ 8:25 PM. The details of the Turbine valve outage and Generator stator cooling water system outage are 
covered in separate reports. 

Outage KPI's: 

Safety- Goal (0) Recordable Injuries; Construction (2) and Ameren (2) recordable injuries 
Budget- Goal Capital-S% to -3%/ O&M .5% to -3%; Capital budget (-10%), O&M budget (-5%) 
Schedule - Goal SPI > 1 to 1; Final global SPI .97 (resulting from a 3% error in calculation as demobilization hours were 
included) the unit returned to the bus 5 days early. 
Quality- Deficiency reports (<2); The Plant received (0) deficiencies, Construction received (1) deficiency. 
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Reason for Outage: Scheduled Unit Overhaul lli'1d Capital improvetnents. The ~v1ajor Capital projects are as follo,vs: 
ReHeater -Economizer Replacement- Project 13775 
A&B APH Replacement- Project 14747 
LP Turbine Retrofit- Project 20121 
Surge Bin Replacement- Project 12775 
345 KV Generator Protective Relay Upgrade- Project 21439 
6900V Arc Flash Reduction- Project 21631 
125VDC Upgrade -Project 25605 
Economizer Hopper Slag Flow Diverter Baffle- Project 21865 
Isophase Bus Duct Cooler Replacement- Project 23282 
Replace (12) Burners -Project 24010 

Resource Management: 
The Ameren outage management team totaled 72. (26) Plant management staff, ( 41) Power Operations support staff, (3) 
Support staff from other plants, and (2) consultants. The Ameren labor force totaled (85). (26) Plant maintenance, (12) 
Operations POE's, (29) PCM, (8) Supplemental from other plants, and (10) TRW's. Ameren resources worked a 5 day 8 hour 2 
shift schedule, except for Repairmen who worked 5 day 10 hour 2 shift schedules for seven weeks during the outage. Other 
overtime was worked as needed to support milestone releases and electrical bus cleaning. Contract resources began with (296). 
During the outage they averaged (360) and peaked at ( 435) including management staff. They worked 6 day 10 hour 2 shift 
schedules for the duration of the outage. During the outage contractors worked selected crews on 3 consecutive Stmdays to 
reduce interferences and maintain outage milestones. 

Critical Path: Reheat Outlet Header and Tubing Replacement and Boiler Chemical Cleaning 

Maintenance Released the Unit after Chemical Cleaning: April3, 2010 22:45 PM 

Unit Returned to the Bus: April6, 2010@ 18:48 PM 

Total Outage Time Bus to Bus: 95 Days, 23 Hours, 55 Min. 

Total Outage La bot· Hours and Cost: 351,177 Hours $36,045,186 

Labor Actual Hours: Maintenance Teclmicians Operations 

Straight Time: 38515 4281 5840 * 

Overtime 4,753 733 6102 ** 

Total Hours 43,268*** 5014 11942 

*Note- Straight time man-hours do not include startup and shutdown 
**Note- This includes 2520 man-hours Operations OT for cleaning. 

Contractor 

210,259 

80,694 

290,953 

Outage Total 

258,895 

92,282 

351,177 

***Note- Maintenance total reflects 3,668man-hours of Maintenance work by POE/E &R's 

Outage Cost: 
Contract Labor O&M 
Contact Labor Capital 
Ameren Labor O&M 
Ameren Labor Capital 
Outage Management 

Total Labor 

$5,884,748 
$21,361,144 

$1,441,927 
$206,384 

$1,238,531 

$30,132,734 

Boiler Cleaning Cost: 
PMS Outage Vac Cleaning 

Expro Explosive Cleaning 
Vandevanter Pump Rental 

Total Cleaning Cost (non labor) 
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0& l'v1l'v1aterial Cost (2010) 
Capital Material Cost (20 10) 
Scaffolding Costs 
Other Costs 
Chemical Cleaning 
Cleaning Cost 
Total Outage Cost 

$678,390 
$1,612,359 

$758,689 (Consulting, Material Loading, Rentals) 
$250,993 
$107,812 

$36,045,186 

Calculated lost revenue as a result of the outage: $14,914,132 

Notes: 

Internal audit with the assistance ofKPMG perfonned audit on our outage management processes in initiation, planning, 
monitoring and communication. Their conclusions were stated as follows: Controls over the Project were in place and 
operating effectively. The initiation, planning, monitoring, and connnunication of the Project were consistent with better 
management practices, and alit,'lled with Ameren' s Generation PMM procedures. The project documentation was in place for 
the scope areas 
reviewed. 

Due to the downturn of the economy sufficient contract labor was available for our outage. The use of core group employees 
from our major contractors helped in quality and productivity. 

This project was performed under the NMA which included the turbine work scope. No work stoppage were incurred this 
outage. 

Click here to return to the Table of Contents 
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Scope Detail 

Originally this outage was scheduled to begin In February Of 2009. At that time the Capital scope of the 
outage included the following jobs: 

13775- Replace U2 Re-heater, Economizer and Lower Slope 
14747- Replace A& B Air Pre-heaters 
20121- Replace A&B LP Turbines 
12775 -Replace Surge Bin 
21865- Install Slag Flow Diverter 
23282- Replace U2 Isophase Bus Duct Cooler 
25605 - 125V DC Upgrade 
21631- 6900V Arc Flash Reduction 
24010- Replace 12 Burners 
24011- Replace A&B CWP Discharge Valves 
21439- Replace V8 Breaker and Relay Upgrade 

As a result of the outage being deferred form 2009 to 2010 the V8 Breaker was installed during the spring 
cleaning outage in May of 2009. The relay portion of this job was completed during this outage. Due to 
the budget constraints for 2010 the Lower Slope replacement was deferred to a future outage. The 
material was purchased and is currently stored on-site. 

Just after Unit 2 was shut down for maintenance, Operations struggled with low river temperatures and 
frazzle ice formed on the screens causing significant damage. As a result, with limited resources and 
logistical interferences with screen restoration, the plant deferred the CWP Discharge Valve replacements. 

One addition job (JR071268) Rewire U2 Exciter, was deferred due to incomplete drawings. Engineering 
is reviewing options to perform this work on a future SBO of sufficient duration. 

Added jobs to the package after the outage began were controlled by the Project Change Request and 
Outage Change Request process. The added job breakdown was as follows: 

Job Package JP000454 Plant I PC:M Jobs: 

72 Jobs were added to the package, most due to shut down and startup issues. The Outage Scope Change 
requests are as follows: 

JR071775- Additional Boiler Chemical Cleaning Process- $40,000 
JR079276-0l- Replace 2B12 Bus DC Feeder Cable- $11,650 
JR079353- Replace 2A PA Fan Motor Feeder Cable- $17,185 
JR079355- Replace 2B PA Fan Bearing TIC Cable- $1,500 
JR079354- Replace 2B PA Fan Motor Feeder Cable- $24,619 
JR076017- Re-gasket GSU Transformer Access Covers- $31,346 
JR078114- Replace HPBFP Re-circulating Valve #5228- $14,501 
JR079628- Raise SA & B FWH Level Switches- $1,900 
JR079629- Remove I Clean EH Coolers- $2,000 

Post Outage Report- Unit 2- January 1, 2010 April 8, 2010 

Confidentiai/TradeSecret- Subject to Protective Order 

Page6 

AM-02739978 

Ex. AB_6
Schedule MCB-S3



Job Package JP000455 Turbine Contractor Jobs: 

3 Jobs were added to the package. 15 job/tasks were added to release EWO work. No Project Scope 
Change requests were submitted. 

Job Package JP000456 Boiler I Other Contractor Jobs: 

3 Jobs were added to the package. 324 job/tasks were added to release inspection driven work and 
EWO's. The Project Scope Change requests are as follows: 

JR068330- EWO 27 Extra work on adjusting APH Sector Plates- $62,000 
JR069005-31- EWO 11 Install RH Area (48) Roof tube Dutchmen- $138,600 
JR069005-32- EWO 17 RH Outlet Header Misalignment Issues- $71,280 
JR069005-37- EWO 35 Additional Time for RH Crossover Fit-up- $240,000 

Job Package JP000457 Technician Jobs 

19 Jobs were added to the package, 8 were considered new scope. No significant jobs were added to 
require outage scope change requests. 

Job Package JP000458 Lube Service Jobs 

No jobs were added to the package. 

Resource Table based on outage Total Scope: 

TOTAl % 
Craft HOURS Total 
Electricians 8,256 2.35% 
Machinist 11,247 3.21% 
Repairmen 18,104 5.16% 
Welders 1,801 0.51% 
POE (E-M-R) 3,668 1.04% 
Technician 5,014 1.43% 
Lube Service 192 0.05% 

Operations (Support & Cleaning) 11 ,942 3.40% 

Subtotal 60,224 17.15% 

Contracted 290,953 82.85% 

Total 351,177 100.00% 

Following are a full list of jobs by Package: 
*Note Non-CCTM contract jobs will not show expended hours or labor costs. 

Post Outage Report- Unit 2- January 1, 2010 April 8, 2010 Page7 

Confidentiai/TradeSecret- Subject to Protective Order AM-02739979 

Ex. AB_7
Schedule MCB-S3



Ameren Missouri's 
Response to MPSC  Data Request - MPSC 

EF-2024-0021 
In the Matter of the Request of Union Electric Company d/b/a Ameren Missouri for Issuance of a 

Financing Order Arising From the Retirement of its Rush Island Energy Center. 

No.: MPSC 0024 

1. Provide the project number/work order number associated with each Ameren Missouri project
listed on Schedule MCB-D2. For any such project where the project number/work order is not
available state as such. 2. What is the source of the dates and projects/components listed in
MCB-D2 with regards to Ameren Missouri? 3. Please double check the dates associated with the
following projects: • Rush Island Unit 2 Lower Slope (listed in 2010) • Rush Island 1 and Rush
Island 2 Air Preheater (listed in 2001 and 2003) • Labadie 3 Reheater (1991) • Labadie 3 Air
Preheater (1997) • All Meramec Unit 3 components (1999). • Meramec 1 & 2 Superheater (2000)

RESPONSE 
Prepared By:  Laura Moore 
Title:  Controller, Ameren Missouri 
Date:  March 8, 2024 

1. Attached is Mr. Birk's Schedule MCB-D2 but with project numbers added for projects that
were in service as of the time Ameren began utilizing PowerPlan as part of its plant accounting
processes (in the third quarter of 2005) and for certain other projects for which paper work orders
were on site.  The project numbers for other projects placed in service prior to that time must be
acquired from paper work order files which are housed in offsite storage.   The files have been
requested from offsite storage but are voluminous and will require additional time to review.
This response will be supplemented when such review is complete.

2. The source of the data in Schedule MCB-2 is a combination of PowerPlan data as noted above
and paper work orders reviewed several years ago when the files were not in offsite storage.

3. The dates on the projects listed in part 3 that went into service prior to the 3rd quarter of 2005
will be checked as part of the review of the paper work order files as referenced above.  There is
one project listed in part 3 for which information does exist in Power Plan – the Rush Island Unit
2 Lower Slope.  Upon further review, the Rush Island Unit 2 Lower Slope (listed in Schedule
MCB-D2 as 2010) was not installed until 2016 (the equipment was purchased in 2010 which led
to its incorrect data listing in the table.  This correction has also been made on the attached.
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Project 1989 1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Economizer

Sioux 2 Labadie 2 
Project # 
11047   
Sioux 1 
Project # 
10054

Labadie 1 
Project # 
11916 
Labadie 4 
Project # 
11473

Labadie 3 
Project # 
11465

Meramec 1 
Project # 
11152

Meramec 4 
Project #  
12397

Rush Island 1 
Project # 
11506

Rush Island 2 
Project # 
13775

Lower Slope/    
Boiler Floor

Labadie 2 Labadie 1 
Labadie 3

Sioux 2 Sioux 1 Labadie 4 
Project # 
13553

Rush Island 1 
Project # 
11506

Rush Island 2 
Actually 
Replaced in 
2016    Project 
# J036R

Reheater

Labadie 4 Labadie 3 Sioux 1 Sioux 2 Labadie 2 Meramec 3 Rush Island 1 
Project # 
11506

Labadie 1 
Project # 
11560

Rush Island 2 
Project # 
13775

Air Preheater

Meramec 4  
Labadie 4 
(HE) only

Labadie 3 
(CE) Only

Meramec 3 
Sioux 2

Meramec 2 
Project # 
10989    Rush 
Island 1 

Labadie 1 
Project # 
12529 
Labadie 4 
Project # 
12527

Labadie 3 
Project # 
12528     
Rush Island 2 

Meramec 1 
(CE Only) 
Project # 
11645 
Labadie 2 
(CE Only) 
Project # 
14769

Meramec 4 
Project #  
13772

Rush Island 1 
Project # 
14746

Rush Island 2 
Project # 
14747

Superheater

Sioux 1 Meramec 4   Meramec 3 Meramec 1 
Meramec 2 

Rush Island 1 
Project # 
11112

Rush Island 2 
Project # 
12947

Sioux 2 
Project # 
11493 
Meramec 1 & 
Meramec 2 
Project # 
11505     

Meramec 4 

Cyclones

Waterwalls

Rush Island 1 
Rush Island 2

Sioux 1 Meramec 4 Labadie 2 
Project # 
14454

CE ‐ Cold End

AMO
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